
 

Enquiries relating to this agenda please contact Diane Parsons Tel: 01609 532750 or email 

nypcp@northyorks.gov.uk.  Agenda and papers available via www.northyorks.gov.uk 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

Agenda 

Meeting: North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime 
Panel 

Venue: Council Chamber, County Hall, 
Northallerton, DL7 8AD 

Date: Wednesday, 25 May 2022 at 2.00 pm 

 
This meeting is being held as an in-person meeting and in public.  The government position 
is that of learning to live with COVID-19, removing domestic restrictions while encouraging 
safer behaviours through public health advice.  In view of this, hand cleanser and masks will 
be available for attendees upon request.  The committee room will be well ventilated and 
attendees encouraged to avoid bottlenecks and maintain an element of social distancing.  
Please contact the named supporting officer for the committee, if you have any queries of 
concerns about the management of the meeting and the approach to COVID-19 safety. 
 
Please do not attend if on the day you have COVID-19 symptoms or have had a recent 
positive Lateral Flow Test. 
 
Further details of the government strategy (Living with COVID-19 Plan) are available here - . 
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-guidance-sets-out-how-to-live-safely-with-covid-
19 
 
  

Business 
 
1.   Welcome and apologies 
  
  
2.   Declarations of Interest 
  
  
3.   Minutes of the Panel Meeting held on 16th March 2022 
 (Pages 5 - 10) 
  
4.   Consideration of the Exclusion of the Press and Public 

To consider the exclusion of the press and public from the meeting during consideration 
of the item of business listed in column 1 of the following table on the grounds that they 
involve the likely disclosure of exempt information as defined in the paragraph specified 
in column 2, of Part 1 of Schedule 12A to the Local Government Act 1972 (information 
relating to any individual) as amended by the Local Government (Access to Information) 
(Variation) Order 2006:- 
 

Item Number on the Agenda Paragraph Number 

7 1 
 

  
  
5.   Public Questions or Statements to the Panel 

 Any member of the public, who lives, works or studies in North Yorkshire and 

Public Document Pack

Page 1

http://www.northyorks.gov.uk/
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-guidance-sets-out-how-to-live-safely-with-covid-19
https://www.gov.uk/government/news/new-guidance-sets-out-how-to-live-safely-with-covid-19


 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

York can ask a question to the Panel.  The question or statement must be put in 
writing to the Panel no later than midday on Friday, 20th May 2022 to Diane 
Parsons (contact details below).   

 The time period for asking and responding to all questions will be limited to 15 
minutes. No one question or statement shall exceed 3 minutes.  

 Please see the rules regarding Public Question Time at the end of this agenda 
page.  The full protocol can be found at www.nypartnerships.org.uk/pcp. 

  
  
6.   Confirmation Hearing - Chief Fire Officer 

In accordance with the Policing and Crime Act 2017 Schedule A2 (8(1)) with reference to 
section 28(5) of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011/Schedule 8, the 
North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner has formally notified the North 
Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel of the proposed appointment of a preferred 
candidate to the role of Chief Fire Officer.  This notification requires the Panel to hold a 
Confirmation Hearing to review the proposed appointment and make a recommendation. 

  
  
 (a)   Guidance for the Confirmation Hearing 

Report from the Panel Secretariat. 
  (Pages 11 - 14) 
   
 (b)   Supporting information from the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner 
  (Pages 15 - 22) 
   
 (c)   Personal statement from the preferred appointee 
  (Pages 23 - 28) 
   
7.   Closed Session 

For the North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel to discuss and agree its 
recommendation following the North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner’s 
notification to the Panel of the proposed appointment of a preferred candidate to the role 
of Chief Fire Officer. 

  
  
8.   Members' Questions 
  
  
9.   HMICFRS National Child Protection Inspection of North Yorkshire Police (Nov 

2021) 
  
  
 (a)   Background information: the report of HMICFRS as published on 29th 

March 2022 
For the Panel to note. 

  (Pages 29 - 78) 
   
 (b)   Response to the inspection report, actions taken and planned 

Update from North Yorkshire Police and the Police, Fire and Crime 
Commissioner. 

  (Pages 79 - 84) 
   
10.   Work Programme 

Report by the Panel Secretariat. 
 (Pages 85 - 88) 
  

Page 2



 

 
OFFICIAL - SENSITIVE 

11.   Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman, should, by reason of 
special circumstances, be considered as a matter of urgency. 

  
  
Dates of future meetings: 

 Thursday 21st July 2022 – 10:30am - venue tbc 

 Thursday 13th October 2022 – 10:30am - City of York West Offices, York 

 Thursday 12th January 2023 – 10:30am - County Hall, Northallerton 
 
 

 
Barry Khan 
Assistant Chief Executive (Legal and Democratic Services) 
 
County Hall 
Northallerton 
Tuesday, 17 May 2022 
 
 
NOTES: 
 
(a) Members are reminded of the need to consider whether they have any personal or 

prejudicial interests to declare on any of the items on this agenda and, if so, of the 
need to explain the reason(s) why they have any personal interest when making a 
declaration. 

 
The Panel Secretariat officer will be pleased to advise on interest issues. Ideally their 
views should be sought as soon as possible and preferably prior to the day of the 
meeting, so that time is available to explore adequately any issues that might arise. 

 
Public Question Time 

The questioner must provide an address and contact telephone number when submitting 
a request. The request must set out the question in full. The question/statement: 

1. must relate to the Panel’s role and responsibilities; 
2. must not be substantially the same as a question which has been put at a 

meeting in the past 6 months; 
3. must not be defamatory, frivolous, vexatious or offensive; 
4. must not require the disclosure of confidential or exempt information; and 
1. must not refer to any matter of a personal nature. 

At the meeting: Once the question has been approved, the questioner will be contacted to 
make arrangements to attend the meeting to put the question. 

Any questions will normally be answered at the meeting but in some cases this might not 
be practicable and a written answer will be provided within 14 days of the meeting.   

The full protocol for public questions or statements to the Panel can be found at 
www.nypartnerships.org.uk/pcp 

Page 3



This page is intentionally left blank



 

 
OFFICIAL 

North Yorkshire County Council 
 

North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel 
 
Minutes of the remote meeting held on Wednesday, 16th March, 2022 commencing at 1.30 pm. 
 
Councillors: Peter Wilkinson (Hambleton District Council, in the Chair), Mike Chambers (Harrogate 
Borough Council), Tim Grogan (Selby District Council) and Darryl Smalley (City of York Council). 
 
Community Co-opted Members: Fraser Forsyth, Mags Godderidge and Martin Walker 
 
Zoë Metcalfe (Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner) 
 
In attendance: Lisa Winward (Chief Constable) (North Yorkshire Police), Jonathan Foster (North 
Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service) and Ray Ward (Managing Director) (EnableNY). 
 
Officers from the Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner: Caroline Blackburn (Asst 
Chief Executive & Monitoring Officer), Tom Thorp (Asst Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer), 
Simon Dennis (Chief Executive & Monitoring Officer) and Sarah Arnott (Commissioning and 
Partnerships Manager). 
 
Officers present: Diane Parsons (Principal Scrutiny Officer). 
 
Apologies:  Councillors Carl Les (North Yorkshire County Council) (Chair), Keith Aspden 

(City of York Council) (Vice-Chair), Helen Grant (Richmondshire District 
Council), Carl Maw (Scarborough Borough Council) and Patrick Mulligan 
(Craven District Council).    

 

 
Copies of all documents considered are in the Minute Book 

 

 
589 Welcome and apologies 

 
The Chair reminded all present of the decision-making arrangements for the meeting 
as set out on the agenda frontsheet.  Following the expiry of the legislation permitting 
remote committee meetings in May 2021, the County Council resolved at its meeting 
on 5th May 2021 that in light of the continuing Covid-19 pandemic circumstances, 
remote live-broadcast committee meetings should continue, with any formal decision 
required being taken by the Chief Executive Officer under his emergency decision-
making powers and after consultation with other officers and Members as 
appropriate and after taking into account any views of the relevant Committee 
Members.  As the Panel is constituted as a committee of the council, those present 
were reminded that the meeting was as such being held informally and any formal 
decisions required would be taken by the Chief Executive Officer under the terms 
advised. 
 
The Chair welcomed everyone to the meeting.  Apologies had been received from 
Councillors Les, Aspden, Mulligan, Grant and Maw. 
 
 

590 Declarations of Interest 
 
Martin Walker notified that he is a Trustee of IDAS.  Mags Godderidge notified that 
she is he Chief Executive officer of Survive. 
 Page 5

Agenda Item 3



 

 
OFFICIAL 

 
591 Minutes of the Informal Panel Meeting held on 7th February 2022 

 
Resolved – that the following be referred to the Chief Executive Officer for 
consideration under his emergency delegated powers:- 
 
That the minutes of the meeting held on 7th February 2022, having been printed and 
circulated, be taken as read and confirmed and signed by the Chairman as a correct 
record. 
 
 

592 Public Questions or Statements to the Panel 
 
The Panel were advised that no public questions or statements had been received. 
 
 

593 Members' Questions 
 
In response to a Member question regarding increasing bike thefts, the 
Commissioner highlighted that she is looking to integrate work to help tackle this 
issue into her key plans and that she would also be happy to hear further about 
specific concerns. 
 
The Commissioner was asked to outline any external stakeholder meetings or 
facilitated training as part of her induction to her role and this focussed in particular 
on support via the national association of police and crime commissioners (APCC). 
 
Members also raised concerns regarding recent national reporting that North 
Yorkshire has one of the lowest clear-up rates in relation to fraud.  The Chief 
Constable provided further context around how reports of fraud are handled and 
offered to provide a briefing session for Panel outside of the meeting. 
 
 

594 The legal framework and guidance for Panels in relation to review of the draft 
Plans 
 
Resolved –  
 
That the guidance provided is noted by the Panel. 
 
 

595 Overview of the draft Police and Crime Plan and Fire and Rescue Plans 
2021/24 
 
The Commissioner highlighted that in preparing both draft Plans, she wanted to 
ensure a degree of continuity but also a realistic vision for the term.  Public feedback 
has shaped the priorities but the Plans are in draft only and the Commissioner 
welcomed the Panel’s feedback. 
 
Resolved –  
 
That the Panel notes the covering report and update provided. 
 
 

596 The Draft Police and Crime Plan 2021/24 
 
Considered –  
 Page 6



 

 
OFFICIAL 

The Commissioner’s draft Police and Crime Plan 2022/25. 
 
Panel members acknowledged the time constraints under which the Commissioner 
and her team have had to work to produce mature drafts of both Plans.  Members 
also commended the Commissioner’s acknowledgment in both draft Plans of the 
need to restore public trust and confidence in the Office of Commissioner over the 
next few years. 
 
However, the Commissioner was advised that her own personal focus and passion 
for the role had not been as strongly reflected in both drafts as may have been 
expected. 
 
A key point of Panel feedback was that while the aspirations and key objectives of 
both the draft Police and Crime Plan and Fire and Rescue Plan are tonally 
appropriate and set a broader direction of travel for the services, the absence of 
specific performance targets or benchmarks undermines the efficacy and impact of 
the draft Plans.  The Commissioner agreed to review the presentation of the Plans in 
this regard. 
 
Some specific observations and/or recommendations were made for the draft Police 
and Crime Plan as follows: 

 Making explicit reference to sexual violence in the context of improving 
outcomes for victims, in order to render it more ‘visible’, in particular at 
Outcome 1a and at page 18 (under “hidden harms”); 

 Fraud is becoming one of the most prominent crimes; as such the draft would 
benefit from more emphasis to help explain what is being done to tackle 
fraud; 

 The draft should fully convey the importance of police being responsive to 
calls from the public; not only via handling of calls for service but also through 
the actual response deployed within communities; 

 Public safety should be viewed as a 24-hour partnership issue in areas such 
as York city centre and should not be viewed as linked solely to the night-
time economy. 

 
The Commissioner thanked the Panel for their feedback and offered to engage 
further with individual Members on the points raised after the meeting.  On this basis, 
the Panel agreed that it was happy to recommend approval of the draft Police and 
Crime Plan 2022/25. 
 
Resolved – that the following be referred to the Chief Executive Officer for 
consideration under his emergency delegated powers:- 
 
That the Panel approves the Commissioner’s draft Police and Crime Plan 2022/25, 
subject to the Commissioner’s further consideration of the Panel’s recommendations. 
 
 

597 The Draft Fire and Rescue Plan 2021/24 
 
Considered –  
 
The Commissioner’s draft Fire and Rescue Plan 2022/25. 
 
The Panel’s broader comments around the content and presentation of the draft 
Police and Crime Plan also applied to the draft Fire and Rescue Plan; in particular 
that in order to effectively measure progress, performance targets or benchmarks 
needed to be incorporated within the objectives.   
 Page 7



 

 
OFFICIAL 

Members sought further operational detail from the Interim Chief Fire Officer around 
some of the references in the draft such as around the use of mass decontamination 
units and the development of the on-call service.  Members noted the ambitions of 
the draft Plan but reflected that the changes in senior leadership within the service 
over the last three or four years risked impacting on morale.  The Commissioner 
concurred that a period of stability in leadership will be important and that the 
recruitment exercise for Chief Fire Officer had just been launched, following the 
announcement of Jonathan Foster’s forthcoming retirement. 
 
Resolved – that the following be referred to the Chief Executive Officer for 
consideration under his emergency delegated powers:- 
 
That the Panel approves the Commissioner’s draft Fire and Rescue Plan 2022/25, 
subject to the Commissioner’s further consideration of the Panel’s recommendations. 
 
 

598 Enable NY programme: progress update 
 
Considered –  
 
The Commissioner’s progress update report on the EnableNY programme. 
 
Ray Ward, Managing Director of EnableNY, outlined the key points from the report.  
EnableNY has been fully functional operationally since July 2021. Reference was 
made to the various ways in which the shared services provision had been 
developed, such as through new contracts and job roles to enable some staff to work 
across both services.  The Panel were advised that the changes have been 
challenging for staff, having to adjust to working collaboratively across a shared 
service.  A recent staff survey provided a useful mechanism for reviewing how staff 
had found the changes.  Technology is a key area for development where equipment 
has been consolidated.  The programme is taking the opportunity where agreements 
come to an end to cycle police and fire together. 
 
Panel Members were keen to establish that the programme will deliver against its 
initial aims.  The Commissioner expressed confidence that Enable continues to 
provide the right vehicle for the changes needed.  The Panel were also keen to 
identify whether there are further opportunities being explored around shared 
estates.  A piece of work has been commissioned from EnableNY on this and is 
currently underway. 
 
The Commissioner was thanked for the update report and Panel requested that a 
further update is provided early next year.  It was also suggested that it would be 
helpful for Panel members undertaking a familiarisation visit to the OPFCC in future 
to also receive an overview of the Enable programme.  
 
Resolved –  
 
That the Panel notes the report provided. 
 
 

599 Work Programme 
 
Considered –  
 
The outline work programme for the Police, Fire and Crime Panel. 
 
It was agreed that an item on tackling fraud would be incorporated into the work 
programme.  Hate crime will also continue to feature as a regular annual update; the Page 8



 

 
OFFICIAL 

next update to be taken in early 2023. 
 
Members discussed with the Commissioner around the new Victims’ Centre in York 
and how it will enable victims to give evidence remotely for example via video 
recording.  It was noted that the Panel is taking an update on violence against 
women and girls in October, which could usefully include a further update on the 
Victims’ Centre. 
 
Resolved –  
 
That the Panel agrees its work programme, with the inclusion of an additional item 
on efforts to tackle fraud. 
 
 

600 Such other business as, in the opinion of the Chairman, should, by reason of 
special circumstances, be considered as a matter of urgency. 
 
The Panel were advised that no urgent business had been notified to the Chair. 
 
 

The meeting concluded at 2.40 pm. 
 
DP. 

Page 9



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 

OFFICIAL 

NORTH YORKSHIRE POLICE, FIRE AND CRIME PANEL 

 

25 May 2022 

 

Confirmation Hearing – Chief Fire Officer 
 

1.0 Introduction 

 

1.1 This report can be used as supporting information for the confirmation hearing for Chief Fire 

Officer, North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service (Agenda Item 6) on 25 May 2022. 

 

1.2 The Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner (the Commissioner) has responsibility for appointing 

a Chief Fire Officer to the North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service.  Before making such an 

appointment the Commissioner has to notify the Police, Fire and Crime Panel (the Panel) and 

it must review the appointment.  The Panel must hold a public Confirmation Hearing prior to 

making a report to the Commissioner, which includes a recommendation as to whether or not 

the candidate should be appointed.   

 

2.0 Procedure 

 

2.1 It is important that the process relating to Confirmation Hearings is scrupulously fair.  It is an 

unusual situation for a candidate to be ‘interviewed’ for a job in a public forum.  The process 

outlined below has been designed to ensure rigour and fairness in all circumstances. 

 

2.2 Candidates will be treated with courtesy and respect throughout the whole appointment 

process, including at the Confirmation Hearing and in public statements relating to 

recommendations made by the Panel. 

 

2.3 The focus will be on the individual’s capabilities and expertise, their professional competence 

and personal independence.  In order for the Panel to form a view on these issues, it will be 

important for the Commissioner to provide the Panel with reliable and objective evidence 

about the candidate. 

 

2.4 Professional competence may include a reliable, objective assessment of the candidate’s: 

 

 ability to carry out the role by comparing their background and experience, for example, 

with the role profile 

 professional judgment and insight  

 understanding of the various stakeholders who need to be involved and engaged with, in 

what way and with what outcome 

 experience in the development and delivery of a major strategy. 

 

2.5 Personal Independence may include a reliable objective assessment of the candidate’s:  

 

 ability to advise effectively 

 understanding of the separation of political and operational responsibilities 

 ability to respond constructively to situations where they might be held to account. 

 

Page 11

Agenda Item 6a



   

 

OFFICIAL 

2.6 Confirmation Hearings should take place as quickly as possible with minimal time between 

notification of the appointment, the hearing and reports and recommendations being made to 

the Commissioner.  (The Act stipulates that a report and recommendation has to be sent within 

3 weeks of the day that the Panel receives notification from the Commissioner.) 

 

3.0 Formal Notification by the Commissioner 

 

3.1 The Commissioner must formally notify the Panel of the proposed appointment. At the same 

time, the Commissioner will supply the evidence required for the Panel to determine whether 

his judgement has been properly exercised.  

 

4.0 Confirmation Hearing 

 

4.1 The Hearing will be held in public and the candidate will be requested to appear for the purpose 

of answering questions relating to the appointment. 
 

4.2 The Panel will: 

 

 welcome the candidate 

 introduce those present 

 explain the process and key themes 

 explain the process for making a report and recommendation to the Commissioner as to 

whether or not the candidate should be appointed and (in the case of Chief 

Constable/Chief Fire officer only) the power to veto 

 treat the candidate fairly and politely 

 ask appropriate questions 

 not make statements 

 give the candidate an opportunity to clarify answers or ask questions 

 

4.3 The Panel will be seeking to establish if, in its opinion, there are any grounds to not follow the 

Commissioner’s proposal for appointment. 

 

4.4 The questions need to relate to two general principles –  

 

i. Professional Competence 

ii. Personal independence  

 

4.5 The hearing should be a relatively focussed opportunity to explore key issues relating to these 

general principles. The LGA/Centre for Public Scrutiny guidance on confirmation hearings 

advises that a hearing should not be used as an opportunity for a Panel to explore the 

candidate’s views on various areas of the Commissioner’s policies, national policy issues or 

their plans once they assume the post, except insofar as those questions might relate directly 

to professional competence.  
 

4.6 The hearing ought not to be used to explore hypothetical instances ie asking the candidate what 

they would do in a particular situation but should address issues of competence, suitability and 

expertise, priorities and vision, availability. 

 

 

 

Page 12



   

 

OFFICIAL 

5.0 Decision Making by the Panel 

 

5.1 The Panel will exclude the press and public to come to a decision on its report and 

recommendation. 

 

5.2 The Panel’s decision making process is as follows :–  

 

5.3 Taking account of the minimum standards of professional competence and personal 

independence does the candidate meet the criteria set out in the role profile?  

 

a) Do they have the Professional competence to carry out the role? 

b) Do they have the personal independence to carry out the role?  

 

5.4 The Panel must then determine whether to recommend that the preferred candidate is 

appointed.  In the case of a Chief Fire Officer appointment, the Panel is able to exercise a power 
of veto (see also section 6, below). 

 

5.5 A veto will only be used in exceptional circumstances by the Panel if the candidate does not 

appear to meet the minimum requirements of the post in relation to the individual’s capabilities 

and expertise, their professional competence or personal independence. 

 

5.6 In a circumstance where the candidate meets the two standards, but there is still cause for 

concern about his/her suitability, the Panel may choose to outline those concerns in its response 

to the Commissioner. 

 

6.0 Report and Recommendation 

 

6.1 The report and recommendation will be sent to the Commissioner within two working days of 

the Confirmation Hearing.  (It has to be sent within three weeks of the day that the Panel 

received notification from the Commissioner.) 

 

6.2 There are 3 options available to the Panel for this particular hearing: 

 

1. Report and recommendation to appoint 

 

2. Report and recommendation not to appoint 

 

3. Report and veto. 

 

 An appointment can only be vetoed if two thirds of the Members of the Panel 

present at the time when the decision is made vote in favour of the veto 

 If a candidate is vetoed they cannot be appointed 

 The Commissioner may put forward another person as reserve candidate and the 

process will be followed again from ‘Formal Notification by the Commissioner’.  In 

these circumstances the Panel may only issue a report with a recommendation 

whether or not to appoint. 

 

6.3 In the case of Chief Constable/Chief Fire Officer appointments only – if the Panel does not 

make a report (including a recommendation as to whether or not the candidate should be 

appointed or veto the candidate) within 3 weeks of the day on which the Panel received the 

Page 13



   

 

OFFICIAL 

notification from the Commissioner of the proposed appointment, the Commissioner can go 

ahead and make the appointment. 

 

7.0 Response by the Commissioner 

 

7.1 The Commissioner must have regard to any report made with recommendations and then 

notify the Panel whether he accepts or rejects the Panel’s recommendation within three 

working days. 

 

7.2 The Commissioner will give reasons for her decision. 

 

7.3 If the Commissioner accepts the Panel’s recommendation not to appoint a reserve candidate 

(relates to a Chief Constable/Chief Fire Officer only) then he can put forward another person 

as reserve candidate and the process will be followed again from ‘Formal Notification by the 

Commissioner’ until a candidate is appointed. 
 

7.4 The Commissioner will notify the candidate of the decision. 

 

8.0 Publication 

 

8.1 The Panel will decide how and when to publish the report and recommendation.  The standard 

procedure will be to publish it on the Panel website.  It will be published in full. 

 

8.2 The decision will be taken following consultation with the Commissioner and the candidate, and 

they will be given at least two working days’ notice of the date of publication. 

 

8.3 The report and recommendation will normally be published within five working days of the 

Commissioner taking a decision whether or not to appoint. 

 

8.4 If a candidate withdraws after a report and recommendation has been sent to the 

Commissioner, the report and recommendation will still be published in accordance with the 

procedure set out above. 

 

8.5 If, having regard to the report and recommendations from the Panel, the Commissioner decides 

not to appoint, the Commissioner will publish details of what he is going to do next in relation 

to the vacancy within five working days. 

 

 
Diane Parsons 

Police, Fire and Crime Panel Secretariat 

16th May 2022 

 

County Hall, 

NORTHALLERTON 

 

Background Documents - Nil 

 
 

Page 14



Police, Fire & Crime Panel 
Report 
25 May 2022 

Appointment of Chief fire Officer 

I am required by Paragraph 8(1) of Schedule A2 of the Fire and Rescue Act 2004 in reference to 
Section 28(5) and Schedule 8 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011, and by 
paragraph 5(1) of the Fire and Rescue Authority (Police and Crime Commissioner) (Application of 
Local Policing Provisions, Inspection, Powers to Trade and Consequential Amendments) Order 
2017, to notify members when I intend to appoint a Chief Fire Officer, and in notifying the Panel of 
a proposed Chief Fire Officer I must notify you of:  

• The name of the person I am proposing to appoint to the role;

• The criteria that were used to assess the suitability of the candidate.

• Why the candidate satisfies those criteria; and

• The terms and conditions upon which the candidate is to be appointed.

This report sets out the background to (and all of the statutory details required in respect of) my 

proposed appointment.  

Summary – The Law 
Under the obligations set out in Schedule 8 of the Police Reform and Social Responsibility Act 2011 

and the Fire and Rescue Authority (Police and Crime Commissioner) (Application of Local Policing 

Provisions, Inspection, Powers to Trade and Consequential Amendments) Order 2017, members 

must review my proposal, undertake a confirmation hearing and report within three weeks of 

being notified of my proposal.  

Summary – Background Circumstances 
The current Interim Chief Fire Officer, Jonathan Foster, retires at the end of June 2022. The Service 

has, during Mr Foster’s tenure as Interim Chief, commenced its journey of service-wide 

transformation. As Commissioner I now seek to appoint a Chief Fire Officer who can take that 

agenda forward and deliver the change that the Service needs. The new Chief Fire Officer will have 

to deliver my Fire and Rescue Plan and the new Risk and Resource Model, while continuing to 

drive transformational change to place the Service on a sustainable footing in the face of 

continuing financial challenges. 

Appointment Process 
The recruitment was carried out in accordance with best practice in order to ensure that 

• a strong field of interest was generated in the opportunity; and

Page 15

Agenda Item 6b



• that the proposed appointee was chosen on merit (in accordance with s7 Local

Government and Housing Act 1989); and

• that the process adhered to the three principles of merit, fairness and openness.

To underpin assurance in those respects, I arranged for an Independent Member to serve on the 

panel for final interview, as well as to assure the entire process.  

I am grateful to Shaheen Mansoor for serving as Independent Member. 

Her report appears as Appendix A. It sets out a comprehensive account of the recruitment process 

and the criteria used for selection.  

Proposed Appointment  
Jonathan Dyson is the person proposed for appointment as Chief Fire Officer for North Yorkshire 

Fire and Rescue Service on a full-time basis.  

Mr Dyson is presently the Interim Deputy Chief Fire Officer for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 

Service.  

The role Mr Dyson will provide for the North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service includes: 

i. As Senior Fire Adviser to the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, provide strategic and

expert advice on all matters related to fire and rescue to support the Commissioner in their

work and governance of the Service; and

ii. As Head of Paid Service for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service, provide overall

leadership and management of personnel, ensuring that the Service has stable leadership

at a time of significant change; and

iii. As the most senior Principal Officer, direct the operations and transformation of the

Service and ensure that there is sufficient and appropriate fire cover for the area.

Formally therefore I propose to appoint Jonathan Dyson as Chief Fire Officer on the above basis. 

Mr Dyson has a demonstrable track record in the fire service which includes:  

1. The necessary professional qualifications for the role, complemented by appropriate

experience at a senior level within the Service. 

2. Experience of working within the PFCC model at a senior level.

3. Experience of leading and managing fire services and of leading and managing change.

4. A comprehensive understanding of Fire Service governance arrangements and of

operating within a corporate governance framework. 

Mr Dyson joined North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service as Area Manager (Director of Assurance) 

from South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service in 2019, where he had served in different roles, 

latterly as Group Manager. He has detailed knowledge of our Service, making him an excellent 

candidate to lead the Service through further transformational change. 

I am content that Mr Dyson has the experience and skills to work effectively and efficiently with 

me and with the Service in the role of Chief Fire Officer. Mr Dyson has the relevant qualifications 

Page 16



and suitable experience of managing both the Service and operational incidents. He has 

demonstrated significant appetite and skill for innovation and transformation throughout his 

career and as Interim Deputy Chief Fire Officer. He has worked closely with the Police on the 

development of the enableNY service offer to NYFRS. 

Moreover, I am confident that Mr Dyson will be able to discharge the duties of the Chief Fire 

Officer statutorily and through my Corporate Governance Framework. He has good experience of 

my governance framework and mechanisms and is embedded within the wider joint governance 

approach with the Police. His experience within the Service and over his career stands him in good 

stead to deliver against these responsibilities. 

The recruitment process was designed to be both challenging and exhaustive, using the ‘Strengths’ 

methodology. The process explores both capability and engagement as a basis for informing 

decision-making on talent acquisition, giving both panels a rich picture of the candidate’s 

accomplishments, motivation levels and development potential.  

It is important to note, especially in circumstances whereby a single candidate has been shortlisted 

for interview, that Mr Dyson performed exceptionally strongly in the assessment process, in the 

collective view of the interview panel. Our very positive assessment was shared by the partnership 

stakeholder panel, whose conclusions were explained to the interview panel after we had 

completed our scoring. Indeed, the detailed scores arrived at by the stakeholder panel in respect 

of the strengths displayed by Mr Dyson, were very similar to those allocated by the interview 

panel.  

I have no hesitation in commending Mr Dyson as an inspirational, values-driven transformational 

leader for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service. 

Proposed Terms and Conditions of Service  
A copy of the recruitment pack is attached as Appendix B, which contains the role profile setting 

out the responsibilities of the role and the associated remuneration range of £128,647-£136,250 

(inclusive of operational allowance). 

I have agreed in principle to discuss development opportunities and plans with the candidate, 

after the appointment process concludes. 

Summary 
For the reasons set out in this report, I commend to the Panel the suitability of Jonathan Dyson as 

my proposed candidate for Chief Fire Officer for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service. 

Zoë Metcalfe 
Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner for North Yorkshire 

Signature redacted by NYCC prior to publication

Page 17



Independent Panel Member Report 

Recruitment of the Chief Fire Officer 

North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

References in this report to ‘the applicable standards’ are references to the requirements of the s7 

Local Government and Housing Act 1989 to appoint a candidate on merit; and to relevant 

indicators of best practice set out by the Home Office in respect of senior public appointments by 

Commissioners. The principles adopted include - the requirement to advertise the role for 3 clear 

weeks; to appoint in a manner which respects the three principles of merit, fairness and openness; 

and to engage an Independent Member to ensure the selection and appointment process is 

conducted fairly and openly, and the successful candidate is selected on merit. 

Background 

This report is prepared in accordance with the guidelines set out by the applicable standards.  It 

contains my independent assessment of the process followed to appoint a Chief Fire Office (CFO) 

for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service and comments on whether I have assessed the 

process to have complied with the four key principles of merit, fairness, openness and 

transparency and inspiring public confidence. 

I have set out below each stage of the appointments process providing commentary where 

appropriate. 

Advertising and Search 

The advert for the role was publicly advertised on the 16 March 2022 with a closing date of 11 

April 2022.  Advertisements were placed on the North Yorkshire OPFCC, North Yorkshire Fire & 

Rescue Service external and internal, the National Fire Chiefs’ Council, the Women in the Fire 

Service and the Asian Fire Service Association websites. The NFCC is the primary site for all senior 

fire appointments. In addition, the advert was circulated across social media and LinkedIn.  

The deadline was extended for an additional 2 weeks to 25 April 2022 to explore whether a larger 

field of candidates would apply. 

At the outset and after extending the window, the Commissioner wrote to all Chief Fire Officers in 

the country, asking them to promulgate the opportunity of becoming Chief Fire Officer in North 

Yorkshire, amongst their senior teams.   

Appendix A

Page 18



The advertisement was open for applications for a period of 40 days which is well above the 

applicable standard of 21 days. I am satisfied that the application window was maximised and 

that the vacancy was openly and proportionately publicised. 

 

Shortlisting Process 

Applicants were asked to provide their CV and covering letter stating how they meet the essential 

criteria of the role. One applicant applied for the CFO role. 

Zoë Metcalfe was made available for informal 1-2-1 conversations with candidates – which was 

offered in the candidate pack and advert. 

A familiarisation event was offered to candidates on 22 March 2022 and on 5 April 2022 as part of 

the process. 

The shortlisting meeting took place on 11 April 2022 after which the extension of the application 

window was agreed and again on 25 April 2022. The shortlisting panel comprised of Zoë Metcalfe 

and Simon Dennis.    

The shortlisting panel members were satisfied that the candidate met the published essential 

criteria for the role. 

The candidate was invited to final interview. 

Prior to interview, strengths-based interview questions were drafted as well as a presentation 

topic which the candidate was to be asked to present in 10 minutes. Specialist consultancy 

support was provided jointly to the OPFCC and People Services, to design those elements of the 

process and to ensure that they aligned to the ‘Strengths’ method of assessment.  

I am satisfied it was appropriate for the applicant to be shortlisted for interview. 

 

Interview Process 

The interview process took place in person on Friday 6 May 2022. 

A stakeholder interview took place in the morning. The stakeholder panel comprised of the 

following individuals: 

• Julie Warren, NHS North Yorkshire Clinical Commissioning Group 

• Victoria Turner, North Yorkshire County Council  

• Ian Spiers, Swaledale Mountain Rescue 

• Helen Hunter, Age UK 

The stakeholder panel asked 7 questions: 

1. There is a legislative duty for fire and rescue services across England to collaborate with 

partners. Can you provide an example of a collaborative project you have been involved 

with? Please set out how it was introduced to those involved and how its efficacy was 

measured. Can you envisage any existing projects from other areas being adapted for use 

across North Yorkshire, taking into account the urban, but mainly rural nature of the area? 

Page 19



2. The Chief Fire Officer has a responsibility to look after the mental health of everyone 

working for NYFRS. What would you do to monitor wellbeing and build resilience in your 

people? 

3. North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service and public health both have key roles in prevention, 

including shared concerns such as falls’ prevention, smoking cessation and road safety. 

How do you see North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service working with partners to drive the 

wider prevention agenda across North Yorkshire? 

4. As Chief Fire Officer, you would be accountable for implementing key strategies, policies 

and plans which guide, improve and transform service delivery. What do you consider to be 

the key strategic opportunities for improving performance at North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue 

Service and delivering best value? 

5. Inclusion is an ever-increasing focus for employers. How would you ensure that all staff and 

volunteers within North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service understand that you are focused on 

them all as individuals, and what processes would you build on or introduce to ensure all 

individuals across the organisation feel included and valued? 

6. You will need to work collaboratively with a variety of partner organisations. How do you 

approach building great working relationships with senior stakeholders in partner 

organisations? When has this helped you to influence positive change? 

7. What would you identify as your core personal values? Can you describe a situation where 

one of these values was challenged and how you responded to it? 

Following the Stakeholder Panel, the panel independently scored each question according to the 

strengths-based assessment scoring process, information about which is attached to this report. 

The stakeholder panel then reported their assessment to People Services who in turn relayed it to 

the final assessment panel after the main panel interview. 

The final assessment panel comprised of the following individuals: 

• Zoë Metcalfe – Police, Fire & Crime Commissioner (PFCC) – Panel Chair 

• Simon Dennis – Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer, Office of the PFCC 

• Lisa Winward – Chief Constable, North Yorkshire Police 

• John Roberts – Chief Fire Officer, West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue Service 

• Shaheen Mansoor – Independent Member 

The panel was advised on matters of process by the Chief Executive and Monitoring Officer and on 

matters of fire and rescue specialism by the Chief Fire Officer of West Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 

Service. 

The panel met in advance of the interview to finalise the approach and agree which panel 

members would ask particular questions. All panel members declared whether they had prior 

knowledge of the candidates. 

The candidate presented for 10 minutes on the following subject: 

1. How would you develop your strategic vision for the future of the Fire & Rescue Service in 

North Yorkshire, in partnership with the Commissioner? 

2. How would you lead and deliver that vision, and transformational change, in a time of 

financial constraint?   

Page 20



The final assessment panel questioned the candidate on their presentation for 10 minutes. 

Following the presentation the candidate was asked 4 strengths-based questions and 2 

motivation-based questions: 

Strengths Questions 

1. How would you build and maintain an effective relationship with the Commissioner? How

have you built and maintained effective relationships with key stakeholders in the past?

2. What are the barriers to establishing a truly inclusive organisation? What have you done to

break through such barriers in your career to date? How do you demonstrate your

understanding of the needs and concerns of diverse groups?

3. How do you manage your response to pressure and ensure you remain effective? Can you

give an example of how you have bolstered the resilience of those around you?

4. How do you maintain a balance between ‘remaining true to yourself’ and effectively

navigating the stakeholder landscape? Why do you think this is important for the Chief Fire

Officer of North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service?

Motivation Questions

1. What attracts you to working for North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service? What strengths do

you have that you feel make you suitable for the role of Chief Fire Officer?

2. What do you see as the key issues and challenges we face in trying to achieve the objectives

we set in ‘Ambition 2025’? How do you feel about tackling these issues and challenges?

The panel agreed collective scores for the candidate following interview using a pre-prepared 

assessment form.  The panel discussed each question separately against the scoring criteria and 

agreed on a score.  

As a result of the interview process the candidate has been recommended for appointment. 

I am satisfied that the panels were properly constituted to assess the candidate impartially 

against the full breadth and depth of the requirements of the role.   

I am satisfied that the panels effectively managed their prior knowledge of the candidate and as 

such effectively and fairly addressed any perceived conflicts of interest. 

I am satisfied that the interview was conducted in a fair, transparent and consistent manner. 

The application was assessed against the published criteria and all decisions were fully 

documented. Fundamentally the decision to appoint was made solely on merit. 

Conclusion 

I am satisfied that this recruitment process met the requirements of the applicable standards. 

Signature redacted by NYCC prior to publication

Page 21



Shaheen Mansoor 

Independent Panel Member 

15 May 2022 

 

 

Page 22



Jonathan Dyson 

Personal Statement 

15th May 2022 

 

Chair, Members 

 

Chief Fire Officer (CFO)  

North Yorkshire Fire & Rescue Service (NYFRS). 

 

Thank you for the opportunity to submit a personal statement in preparation for the forthcoming 

confirmation hearing. I feel truly honoured to be the Commissioner’s proposed appointee. 

 

Strategic Experience 

I bring extensive experience across multiple fire and rescue services and diverse political governance 

models to shape my vision, strategy and intent, undertaking the challenges of transformation, inclusivity 

and sustainability concomitantly. As CFO, I will focus on delivering sustainable transformation through 

my vision, clarity and purpose. Strategic collaborations and alliances are a vital part of my vision for 

greater primary intervention in risk and vulnerability.  

 

As a competent Gold Command Officer, I’ve completed courses in Strategic Incident Command and 

Multi Agency Gold Incident Command, with professional development and maintenance of 

competence. I’ve operated at Gold Command during Major Incidents across multiple services.   

Meeting the role requirements 

I’m enthusiastic, ambitious and fervent about public service with a strong civic duty. I like to be taken 

from my comfort zone to understand different perspectives and pick apart my position to rebuild it 

through challenging my ethical, professional and personal viewpoints. I’ve prioritised organisational 

growth and culture change, enabling colleagues to develop skills and thrive in their work, unlocking 

and nurturing talent to improve inclusion, having a huge impact across the organisation and into our 

partner landscape.  

 

As CFO, I want to ensure North Yorkshire remains one of the safest places in the country to live, work, 

or visit. My desire is to continue building an inclusive, sustainable organisation by transforming our 

service delivery. A key priority is to develop our partnerships ensuring our staff, volunteers and partners 

feel valued and able to be their very best for our communities.  

 

 

Page 23

Agenda Item 6c



I promote a one team ethos cultivating a flexible, fair and innovative environment, evidenced through 

an unmistakable improvement in our value driven culture. My appointment represents a long-term 

commitment to NYFRS, for leadership stability and partner relationships. My leadership provides 

direction to our people, to achieve the objectives of the Fire & Rescue Plan, Risk and Resource Model 

and Ambition 2025. I am building a pro-inclusion environment through our people strategy, for positive 

changes in the quality of service we deliver to the public and their experience when interacting with 

staff. 

 

Leadership 

I’m an authentic and ethical leader, bringing novel thinking to collaboration for strategic solutions. I’ve 

built positive standing with staff, partners and Trade Unions, developing my emotional intelligence to 

foster trusting relationships. I’m a ‘positive disruptor’ evidenced through improvements I’ve delivered 

across all service directorates. I’ve added value to strategic teams for over 7 years, developing robust 

personal and professional resilience. I improve and appreciate the value of our Trade Union 

environment, understanding its current and potential future strategic impact. 

 

Organisational Growth and Culture Change 

I’ve created a strategic model for organisational learning, enhancing physical and cognitive capabilities 

for personal growth alongside professional skills. I’m utilising distributed leadership to increase 

efficiency and effectiveness, supporting teams and individuals to take responsibility and achieve 

personal and organisational goals. I create an environment where colleagues have the freedom and 

flexibility to change the way they work, benefitting our organisation and the public. 

 

I’ve established successful relationships with Trade Unions, North Yorkshire Police, Office of the 

Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and enableNY colleagues. As Senior Responsible Officer for our 

Agile Programme, I’ve implemented and overseen significant innovation and change processes whilst 

maturing our approach. I have a progressive attitude to strategic risk management, reducing 

organisational risk, delivering improvements in data provision, health and safety, performance and 

operational competence. 

 

Ethics & Pro-inclusion 

I’m a role model and passionate advocate for welfare, fairness and equality of opportunity. I’m 

developing a culture of belonging, unifying social connections for individuals to be their authentic 

selves in the workplace. I’m a prominent and consistent leader with a near zero tolerance for misconduct 

which facilitates support for individuals and teams within our learn not blame culture, through education 

and development. 

Page 24



In conjunction with our enableNY colleagues, I've developed a strategic Equality, Diversity and 

Inclusion Roadmap to better understand the impact of our progress against the National Core Code of 

Ethics, Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Framework and positive action initiatives, including a future 

toolkit for measuring and monitoring our priorities and organisational benefits. 

 

Performance, data and technology 

I strategised and delivered an innovative, data led methodology identifying risk and vulnerability, 

resulting in our Community Risk Profile and Risk and Resource Model, utilising data through 

collaboration with Local Authorities and partners. We’re now able to define and see current risk, to 

reduce vulnerability and build community resilience. I’m transforming our use of technology for 

appreciative enquiry, alongside measurement and monitoring of our performance, aligned to the 

Community Risk profile. We are beginning to understand the causal effect of our work and the impact 

we have on risk and vulnerability. 

 

Local and National roles 

I’ve represented NYFRS on the National Fire Chiefs Council, Working Patterns Board project and I’m 

the extant Lead Officer for Automatic Water Fire Suppression Systems. I’ve created strategic 

collaboration opportunities aiding change of legislation and British Standards in relation to sprinklers 

and building safety, by engaging strategic stakeholders and achieving their commitment to influencing 

public safety. 

 

 I’m an activist for effective governance, in line with the Commissioners Code of Governance, as Chair 

and Co-Chair of a multitude of internal and external governance groups, including Deputy Chair of the 

North Yorkshire Community Safety Partnership. I’m exploring strategic alliances with key fire sector 

partners to seek collaborative opportunities that provide value for money and enhance public safety. 

 

Summary 

I feel privileged to have the opportunity to serve as CFO for NYFRS, continuing to serve the public of 

North Yorkshire and York, focusing on the challenges of transformation, inclusivity and sustainability. 

I welcome the opportunity to discuss my suitability for confirmation in role and I look forward to 

meeting Members at the hearing on 25th May 2022. 

 

I have enclosed a copy of my CV for Members’ perusal. 

 

Yours Sincerely 

 

Jonathan Dyson 

Page 25



Jonathan Dyson 

jonathan.dyson@northyorksfire.gov.uk 

: http://uk.linkedin.com/in/jonathan-dyson-754715127 

 

Professional Profile 

T/Deputy Chief Fire Officer and Director of Service Delivery for North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 

Service. 

 

• Visionary leader with extensive experience across multiple fire and rescue services, with 

valuable insight into working under different political governance models and Trade Union 

environments. 

• Change agent, and clear communicator, blending servant, authentic and ethical leadership, to 

deliver transformation with sustainable benefits for the service, public and our partners. 

• Innovative strategic thinker who pursues best practice and shared learning from within the fire 

sector and externally, linking initiatives with the overarching vision of the organisation. 

• Confident, passionate and trusted leader who seeks different perspectives to challenge own 

ethical, professional and personal viewpoints. 

• Supportive role model and advocate who enjoys helping others achieve their aspirations, 

promoting inclusive practices to improve fairness, welfare and organisational belonging. 

• Embeds a collaborative approach, fostering strong partnerships, inspiring new ways of working 

as a trusted advocate and critical friend of key stakeholders.  

• Successful conciliator, resolving conflict and Trade Union disputes through discussion, 

dialogue and appropriate challenge.  

• Seized opportunities to lead and develop national initiatives for the fire sector, currently serving 

as a board member of a National Fire Chiefs Council work stream and National Lead for 

Automatic Water Suppression Systems. 

 

Current Role  
August 2021 - Present: North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue – T/ Director of Service Delivery 

• I provide the Chief Fire Officer, the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner and the public, 

assurance of the organisation’s performance, against the Integrated Risk Management Plan and 

Fire and Rescue Plan. 

• I contribute to the effective Corporate Governance of the Service, being accountable for a varied 

portfolio including strategic operational command and Prevention and Protection. I take a long-

term view, challenging the status quo, to meet the future political, financial and socioeconomic 

landscape.  

 

• Delivering organisational improvement as a Senior Responsible Officer, understanding the 

importance of personal impact on team performance. I am delivering huge organisational 

benefits as colleagues change the way they work, without bureaucratic processes which prevent 

creativity.  

 

 

 

 

Page 26

mailto:jonathan.dyson@northyorksfire.gov.uk


• Active member of the Equality, Diversity and Inclusion Board, influencing strategic and tactical 

decision making processes, to ensure the impact of changes on people are thoroughly 

considered to deliver real and sustainable change. I create an environment and culture of trust, 

promoting a positive mindset and attitude, removing barriers to reform whilst helping people 

understand their individual contribution and impact. 

 

• Proactively build and sustain relationships with high level stakeholders, including Trade 

Unions, Police, Office of the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner, enableNY and City and 

County Council partners. 

 

Key Strengths and Qualities 

Strategic Thinker Change Agent   Value Driven            Inclusive   

 

Positive Disruptor  Evaluator   Esteem Builder           Humility 

          

Relationship Deepener      Connector   Resilient                              Trusted 

 

Coach and Mentor Legacy    Improver           Accountable

              

 

Career Summary  
March 2020 – August 2021: North Yorkshire Fire and Rescue - Director of Assurance   

 

• Developed an innovative, data led method for identifying vulnerability and those at risk in our 

communities. The strategic Community Risk Profile utilises online mapping, with national and 

local data sets obtained through collaborative working with Local Authorities and Partner 

Agencies. We are now able to see current risk and begin predicting future changes. 

 

• Delivered a concept for exemplary training delivery. Staff are encouraged to embed a culture of 

personal and professional pride, focusing on their colleagues and students, to have a positive 

impact. A team ethos is promoted, whilst challenging unacceptable behaviour.  

 

• Implemented a distributed training model, as a collaborative trial across Directorates. This 

resulted in huge gains for the organisation, our new On-call staff and local employers, in terms 

of capacity, cost and personal benefit.  

 

• Delivered a Value for Money Framework and Toolkit, to help demonstrate the causal effect of 

our service delivery work and the impact our actions have on demand, public safety and 

resilience.  

 

• Implemented new ways of working, building on the success of agile working during lockdown. 

This has realised sustainable economic and environmental benefits for the organisation, reflected 

in the Medium Term Financial Plan. 

 

• Delivered an assurance framework for Covid-19 inspections, achieving successful safety 

outcomes across the service, including through a Health and Safety Executive inspection. 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 27



June 1999 to March 2020: South Yorkshire Fire Rescue: Firefighter through to Head of Function 

 

• Delivered an award winning, pioneering collaboration between Police, Fire and Yorkshire 

Ambulance Service for a multi-disciplinary team, targeting vulnerability and reducing demand 

on resources. The team delivered a strong social return of investment, assisting vulnerable and 

at risk people in the community. 

 

• Achieved significant organisational change through the delivery of a community focused 

Integrated Risk Management Plan and new duty systems, creating significant financial 

efficiencies. 

 

• Fundamentally changed the organisations training model to increase staff competence and 

access to courses. This resulted in a huge reduction in staff being unavailable for duty, which 

significantly increased appliance availability and reduced costs to the public. 

 

Education and Qualifications  

• MBA Leading Innovation & Change York St John University (commenced 2021) 

• Executive MBA Accelerator University of Chester 2021 

• Strategic Incident Command Level 7 SFJ 2021 

• Multi Agency Gold Incident Command 2021 

• Advanced Incident Command QCF 2018 

• Internal Verifier - South Yorkshire Fire and Rescue 2017 

• Specialist Rescue Diploma – Coventry University 2010 

• Management Diploma – Institute of Management 2007 

• Post Graduate Diploma – Chartered Management Institute 2006 

• Graduate - Institute of Fire Engineers 2003 

• 3 A levels – Dinnington Comprehensive School 1997 

• 12 O levels – Dinnington Comprehensive School 1995 

 

Board Positions & Professional Affiliations 

• Deputy Chair North Yorkshire Community Safety Partnership 

• National Fire Chiefs Council Protection and Business Safety - Lead Officer Automatic 

Water Suppression Systems 

• National Fire Chiefs Council Board Member – Working Patterns 

• Institute of Fire Engineers – Graduate Membership 

 

Page 28



 

 

National Child Protection 
Inspection 
North Yorkshire Police 
1–12 November 2021

Page 29

Agenda Item 9a



 

 i 

Foreword 

All children deserve to grow up in a safe environment, cared for and protected 
from harm. Most children thrive in loving families and grow to adulthood unharmed. 
Unfortunately, though, too many children are abused or neglected by those 
responsible for their care; they sometimes need to be protected from other adults with 
whom they come into contact. Some of them occasionally go missing, or end up 
spending time in places, or with people, harmful to them. 

While it is everyone’s responsibility to look out for vulnerable children, police forces – 
working together and with other organisations – have a particular role in protecting 
children and meeting their needs. 

Protecting children is one of the most important things the police do. Police officers 
investigate suspected crimes involving children and arrest perpetrators, and they 
have a significant role in monitoring sex offenders. They can take a child in danger 
to a place of safety and can seek restrictions on offenders’ contact with children. 
The police service also has a significant role, working with other organisations, in 
ensuring children’s protection and wellbeing in the longer term. 

As they go about their daily tasks, police officers must be alert to, and identify, children 
who may be at risk. To protect children effectively, officers must talk to children, listen 
to them, and understand their fears and concerns. The police must also work well with 
other organisations to play their part in ensuring that, as far as possible, no child slips 
through the net, and to avoid both over-intrusiveness and duplication of effort. 

Her Majesty’s Inspectorate of Constabulary and Fire & Rescue Services (HMICFRS) 
is inspecting the child protection work of every police force in England and Wales. 
The reports are intended to provide information for the police, the police and crime 
commissioner (PCC) and the public on how well the police protect children and secure 
improvements for the future. 

Page 30

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-and-crime-commissioner/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/police-and-crime-commissioner/


 

 ii 

Contents 

Foreword i 

Summary 1 

1. Introduction 4 

The police’s responsibility to keep children safe 4 

Expectations set out in the Working Together guidance 4 

2. Context for the force 5 

3. Leadership, management and governance 7 

4. Case file analysis 11 

5. Initial contact 15 

6. Assessment and help 19 

7. Investigation 26 

8. Decision making 32 

9. Trusted adult 34 

10. Managing those who pose a risk to children 36 

11. Police detention 39 

Conclusion 42 

The overall effectiveness of the force and its response to children who need help 
and protection 42 

Next steps 42 

Annex A – Child protection inspection methodology 44 

Page 31



 

 1 

Summary 

This report is a summary of the findings of our inspection of police child protection 
services in North Yorkshire, which took place in November 2021. 

We examined how effective the police’s decisions were at each stage of their 
interactions with or for children. This was from initial contact through to the 
investigation of offences against them. We also scrutinised how the force treated 
children in custody. And we assessed how the force is structured, led and governed, 
in relation to its child protection services. 

We adapted this inspection because of the COVID-19 pandemic. Working within 
national guidelines, we conducted an onsite inspection, agreeing with the force to 
carry it out both safely and effectively. 

Main findings from the inspection 

North Yorkshire Police has recently made some changes to its senior leadership team. 
During our inspection, the county was electing a new police, fire and crime 
commissioner (PFCC), and the force appointed a new deputy chief constable. 

The force’s child protection arrangements aren’t consistently providing either the 
quality of service or a good enough response to effectively safeguard children in North 
Yorkshire. In the months before this inspection, senior leaders commissioned thematic 
reviews into how the force manages some child protection areas. They identified 
areas for improvement. Several of our findings mirror those identified by the force. 

Chief officers and senior leaders participate in multi-agency safeguarding partnership 
arrangements. They attend and contribute to multi-agency meetings and activities. 
But there is little evidence of effective multi-agency operational activity to safeguard 
children. We found examples where the force poorly assessed or recognised risk, and 
where the supervision of investigations was of low quality. We also found inconsistent 
information sharing with other organisations involved in safeguarding children. 

The standard of investigations in child protection cases, such as missing children or 
chid sexual exploitation (CSE), is poor. This is because the force allocates cases 
inconsistently. In some cases where highly vulnerable children went missing from 
children’s homes, officers recorded those children as cause for concern, rather than 
missing. So officers didn’t look for them. 

The force doesn’t prioritise safeguarding and child protection highly enough in 
operational activity. It has an inconsistent approach to the risk from those suspected of 
sexually exploiting children. This shows officers don’t always understand their primary 
role, which should be to protect children. Officers don’t always share information 

Page 32

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/safeguarding/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/how-to-open-a-childrens-home/introduction-to-childrens-homes


 

 2 

quickly enough with safeguarding partners. And supervisors don’t oversee 
investigations well enough, mainly because they lack the training, skills and 
experience. 

Staff in the custody suites often determine vulnerability when they see children in 
police detention. But they think investigating officers should be responsible for making 
referrals to children’s social care (CSC) services – even though some children’s 
vulnerability only becomes apparent in police detention. 

We found some specialist units don’t understand their safeguarding responsibility well 
enough. Online abuse team (OAT) officers see their primary role as focusing on 
offenders, rather than protecting children. But officers usually act promptly to trace 
those sharing child abuse images. They follow up with investigative opportunities and 
they regularly review systems to identify potential offenders. The force usually 
manages these cases within its timescales. 

During our inspection, we examined 73 cases where children had been at risk. 
We assessed the force’s child protection practice as good in 13 cases, requiring 
improvement in 34 cases, and as inadequate in 26 cases. This shows the force needs 
to do more to give a consistently good service for all children. 

Specific areas for improvement include: 

• speaking to children, recording their behaviour and demeanour, listening to their 
concerns and views, and using that information to make decisions about their 
welfare; 

• considering the wider risks to children when they are missing. The force needs to 
make initial risk assessments more effective. It needs to consider why a child has 
gone missing, who they are with, where they have been, and whether their 
absence is linked to exploitation or other forms of abuse. This will enhance 
protective planning; 

• supervising investigations to make sure the force pursues opportunities and avoids 
delaying cases unnecessarily; and 

• promptly sharing information with safeguarding partners when risk is known. 
This will help safeguarding children faster. 

The force also needs to improve the way it measures how well staff perform. 
Although it has reviewed various aspects of its work involving children, it doesn’t do 
this routinely. As such, it doesn’t know how effective its interventions are. This makes 
it difficult for senior leaders to assess how good decision-making is, and to be sure 
officers and staff are always making the best decisions for vulnerable children. 

Until now, staff training and awareness measures have relied on the use of email and 
online training packages. A large proportion of the officers dealing with child abuse 
investigations have had no specialist child abuse investigation training. The force has 
recognised this, and it has booked specialist courses for officers in early 2022.  

Page 33



 

 3 

Conclusion 

Senior leaders in North Yorkshire want to protect children and give them 
better outcomes. The force knows it needs to do more to help its officers better 
understand how to safeguard children. It knows it needs to help them look beyond 
obvious risk factors to identify wider or underlying problems that need addressing. 

In our inspection, we found that the officers and staff who manage child abuse 
investigations are committed and dedicated, while often working in difficult 
circumstances. But in too many cases, practice is inconsistent. The force needs to 
make sure senior officers’ ambitions to improve the service lead to better outcomes 
in practice. 

We found some good examples of the force protecting children in need of help. 
At times we saw it working well with other organisations, and operating in a 
child-centred way, effectively combining investigative and safeguarding approaches. 
But we found most cases we examined to be inadequate or requiring improvement. 
The force made similar findings. 

We have therefore made a series of recommendations. If the force acts on them, 
these will help improve outcomes for children. 

Page 34



 

 4 

1. Introduction 

The police’s responsibility to keep children safe 

Under section 46 of the Children Act 1989, a constable is responsible for taking into 
police protection any child they have reasonable cause to believe would otherwise be 
likely to suffer significant harm. The same Act also requires the police to inquire into 
that child’s case. Under section 11 of the Children Act 2004, the police must also keep 
in mind the need to safeguard and promote the welfare of children. 

Every officer and member of police staff should understand it is their day-to-day duty 
to protect children. Officers going into people’s homes for any reason must recognise 
the needs of any child they meet and understand what they can and should do to 
protect them. This is particularly important when officers are dealing with domestic 
abuse or other incidents that may involve violence. The duty to protect children 
includes those detained in police custody. 

The National Crime Agency’s (NCA) National Strategic Assessment of Serious and 
Organised Crime (2021) established that the risk of child sexual abuse continues to 
grow, and is one of the gravest serious and organised crime risks. Child sexual abuse 
is also one of the six national threats specified in the Strategic Policing Requirement. 

Expectations set out in the Working Together guidance 

The statutory guidance published in 2018, Working together to safeguard children: 
a guide to inter-agency working to safeguard and promote the welfare of children, sets 
out what is expected of all agencies involved in child protection. This includes local 
authorities, clinical commissioning groups, schools and voluntary organisations. 

The specific police roles set out in the guidance are: 

• identifying children who might be at risk from abuse and neglect; 

• investigating alleged offences against children; 

• inter-agency working and information sharing to protect children; and 

• using emergency powers to protect children. 

These areas are the focus of our child protection inspections. Details of how we carry 
out these inspections are in Annex A of this report. 

Page 35

https://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/who-we-are/publications/533-national-strategic-assessment-of-serious-and-organised-crime-2021/file
https://www.nationalcrimeagency.gov.uk/who-we-are/publications/533-national-strategic-assessment-of-serious-and-organised-crime-2021/file
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/strategic-policing-requirement
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


 

 5 

2. Context for the force 

North Yorkshire Police has a workforce of around: 

• 1,562 police officers; 

• 1,214 police staff; 

• 212 police and community support officers (PCSOs); and 

• 113 special constables. 

The force provides policing services to the county of North Yorkshire. It covers around 
3,208 square miles in the north of England, including 6,000 miles of roads and 55 
miles of coastline. 

North Yorkshire is England’s largest policing county. Mainly rural, it has an estimated 
population of 824,000 people (ONS 2018) spread across its villages, towns and cities. 

North Yorkshire is a popular tourist and cycling destination. It includes the North York 
Moors and Yorkshire Dales National Parks, coastal hubs such as Scarborough and 
Whitby, and the historic city of York. 

Together with the force and local clinical commissioning groups, the county’s two local 
authorities, North Yorkshire County Council and City of York Council, have established 
safeguarding children partnerships (replacing local safeguarding children boards), as 
required by the Children and Social Work Act 2017. 

The most recent Ofsted judgments of children’s services provided by the local 
authorities are set out below. 

Local authority Judgment Date published 

North Yorkshire County Council Outstanding August 2018 

City of York Council Good February 2017 

Ofsted also visited both local authorities more recently. It found senior leaders and 
managers at North Yorkshire County Council had made sure children’s services 
continued to develop positively. But in the City of York in July 2019, it found the quality 
of services for children in need of help and protection had deteriorated. 

Page 36

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/2017/16/part/1/chapter/2/crossheading/local-arrangements-for-safeguarding-and-promoting-welfare-of-children/enacted
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/815
https://reports.ofsted.gov.uk/provider/44/80453


 

 6 

Organisation 

North Yorkshire Police has three policing areas: York & Selby, Scarborough & 
Ryedale, and Harrogate & Craven. Each area is responsible for local crime, including 
neighbourhood and safeguarding investigations. 

Child abuse investigations are managed by either the criminal investigation 
department (CID) or investigation hubs, which are situated in each of the three 
policing areas. The force has specialist teams for online child abuse, and for 
managing offenders who pose a risk to children. 

An assistant chief constable (ACC) is responsible for child protection throughout 
the force area. She is supported by a detective superintendent, who is the head 
of safeguarding. Their remit includes overseeing improvements to child protection 
across the force. 

Page 37



 

 7 

3. Leadership, management and 
governance 

Senior leaders have a clear ambition to give children better 

outcomes 

North Yorkshire Police has recently made changes to its senior leadership. And during 
our inspection, the county elected a new PFCC for North Yorkshire. The previous 
PFCC and current chief constable set the Police and Crime Plan 2017–2021. It has 
four priorities, the first of which relates to safeguarding vulnerable people, including 
children. The current commissioner and chief constable plan to revise this document, 
but reducing vulnerability and protecting children will continue to be a priority. 

North Yorkshire published its force management statement (FMS) in February 2021. 
The statement explains how the force expects to meet local needs, and how it will 
change and improve its workforce to cope with that demand. The force predicted more 
violence and sexual abuse crimes against children, and identified some approaches to 
manage that demand. This includes “increasing effective learning” so officers can 
improve the quality of public protection notice (PPN) submissions, and “retaining 
effective capability” in child safeguarding to build knowledge and efficiency. 

An ACC is responsible for the force’s response to vulnerability. The force has set out a 
control strategy outlining the main operational threats and themes. It refreshes the 
strategy every two years. The ACC scrutinises progress against the strategy’s themes 
at the monthly operations board meeting. The aim of the meeting is for the force to 
consider how it carries out its work, and identify problems and opportunities for it to 
improve. We saw that those present at the meeting can raise and discuss any trends 
or areas to improve, as well as identify actions. 

The force has a strategic vulnerability board, which oversees decisions and actions 
relating to vulnerability, including a safeguarding service plan. It has established this 
plan with reference to the PFCC’s plan. This means the force’s arrangements closely 
align to those of the elected commissioner.  

Page 38

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/force-management-statement/
https://www.northyorkshire.police.uk/police-forces/north-yorkshire-police/areas/about-us/about-us/force-management-statement/


 

 8 

Leaders don’t oversee child protection well enough, either 

strategically or operationally 

The force manages risk through an ops board and a tactical and tasking co-ordination 
group. Chaired by an ACC, these groups meet on the same day, and they oversee the 
force’s main operations. They allow senior leaders to monitor how well staff perform 
and how much they improve. The force also holds a series of daily management 
meetings (DMMs) for managers who can direct resources to deal with risk and 
vulnerability. Area commanders chair local DMMs with a similar structure and focus. 

Although these meetings do scrutinise some aspects of vulnerability, such as 
domestic abuse, the performance measures are not child-focused, or well understood, 
that is, the number of children affected by domestic abuse. It doesn’t hold meetings 
across its local areas, that focus on child protection issues, such as the quality of 
investigations, audits, identifying improvements and training frontline officers. 

Although problems are escalated to the ops board, we saw that there are few 
ways of monitoring improvement activity and holding senior managers to account. 
For example, senior leaders expect members of the force to adhere to the 
investigation policy, but we found this doesn’t always happen. This means staff 
without the right skills or experience are often investigating child protection cases. 

Leaders need to review the way they gather, record and act on 

information, so they can improve outcomes for children 

We saw that the force’s business insight team had been commissioned to conduct 
internal reviews into areas such as custody, CSE and domestic abuse. These reviews 
were bespoke commissions, as opposed to part of an organisational framework. 
They gave senior officers the opportunity to scrutinise and analyse the quality of the 
force’s operations, and they included comprehensive recommendations for the force 
to consider. 

But we couldn’t see how the force had implemented the recommendations. While not 
all recommendations or areas for consideration might be a risk for the force, it was 
unclear how recommendations were progressed, and whether the impact on children 
was understood. This means senior leaders can’t be sure staff are making the best 
decisions for vulnerable children in all cases. 

We noted that the force doesn’t always record children’s ethnicity. It can’t understand 
risk based on cultural background unless it addresses this problem. Nor can it assess 
its equity of service based on ethnicity. 

Officers responding to child protection concerns aren’t always 

trained well enough 

Officers and staff told us there has been a lack of training for several years. The force 
has used emails, material on its intranet and ad hoc development days to try to give 
staff some training and information on vulnerability and child protection. But the force 
rarely gives officers dedicated training days. As a result, a significant number of staff 
told us they hadn’t received enough training. 

Page 39



 

 9 

The force has mainly relied on online training and self-driven continuing professional 
development (CPD) through emails, as well as depending on supervisors to motivate 
and train their staff. Apart from training on domestic abuse matters, there has been 
little specific face-to-face child protection training (beyond initial police training). 
Department heads establish their own teams’ training needs and they make bids for 
training at the force’s ops board meetings. This means some teams receive training on 
topics such as CSE, whereas others don’t. This lack of a co-ordinated approach can 
cause problems with identifying the relevant staff for the training, while balancing 
operational duties. 

Despite this, we found some senior managers had used specialist officers to give ad 
hoc training to their teams. We also found that some officers accessed training 
through the North Yorkshire Safeguarding Children Partnership. 

The force has three investigation hubs and three CID teams, managing child 
protection investigations. The hubs also have some constables on attachment from 
their regular response duties, as well as police support investigators who conduct child 
protection investigations. Previously, the force had dedicated child abuse teams, with 
detectives trained on the specialist child abuse investigation development programme 
(SCAIDP). Since then, the force has restructured its investigative teams, with each 
command managing its own CID. It does have specialist teams who investigate online 
child abuse, and who manage violent and sexual offenders posing a risk to children. 

While the force has a list of those who have been on the SCAIDP and specialist 
sexual assault investigation development programme (SSAIDP), the list doesn’t 
identify where they are working and who is investigating child protection cases. 
This was reflected in the audits we completed, and officers we spoke to were unclear 
on who is trained. The force is not sure that the right people with the right skills are in 
the right place. Force leaders know about difficulties in recruiting and retaining staff for 
specialist investigation roles. This is a national problem and we have made a 
recommendation to the Home Office in our Joint thematic inspection of the police and 
Crown Prosecution Service’s response to rape. North Yorkshire Police plans to 
increase the number of SSAIDP and SCAIDP officers by 24 in early 2022. 

The force contributes to partnership working arrangements 

Senior officers attend the City of York Safeguarding Children Partnership and 
the North Yorkshire Safeguarding Children Partnership board meetings. 
Representatives from the force also attend several subgroups that work with the 
local authority, NHS organisations and other agencies to safeguard children. 
Throughout our inspection, the force’s partners described their relationship with the 
police as extremely positive. They said the force is both responsive and open to 
professional challenge when appropriate. Information sharing is appropriate in areas 
such as multi-agency risk assessment conferences (MARACs).  

Page 40

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/continuing-professional-development/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/continuing-professional-development/
https://www.safeguardingchildren.co.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/a-joint-thematic-inspection-of-the-police-and-crown-prosecution-services-response-to-rape/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/publications/a-joint-thematic-inspection-of-the-police-and-crown-prosecution-services-response-to-rape/
https://www.saferchildrenyork.org.uk/
https://www.safeguardingchildren.co.uk/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/multi-agency-risk-assessment-conference/


 

 10 

Officers and staff who manage child-related investigations are 

dedicated and enthusiastic 

The officers and staff we spoke to who manage child-related investigations are 
committed and dedicated. Their work is often difficult and demanding. Some specialist 
officers are worried about high workloads, as there aren’t enough staff to deal with the 
number of cases. 

Page 41



 

 11 

4. Case file analysis 

Results of case file reviews 

For our inspection, North Yorkshire Police selected and self-assessed the 
effectiveness of its work in 33 child protection cases. Under HMICFRS criteria, the 
cases selected were a random sample from across the area. 

Our inspectors also assessed the same 33 cases. 

Cases assessed by both North Yorkshire Police and us 

Force assessment: 

• 8 good 

• 15 require improvement 

• 10 inadequate. 

Our assessment: 

• 4 good 

• 16 require improvement 

• 13 inadequate. 

Our inspectors selected and assessed 40 more cases during the inspection. 

Additional 40 cases assessed only by us 

• 9 good 

• 18 require improvement 

• 13 inadequate. 

Total 73 cases assessed by us 

• 13 good 

• 34 require improvement 

• 26 inadequate. 

There was a difference in the force’s assessments in its self-audits and our 
inspectors’ assessments. But the force did recognise that a significant number of its 
cases were inadequate. When we analysed our audits, we considered areas such as: 

• the recording of children’s demeanour and wishes; 

• evidence of safeguarding plans for children; 

Page 42



 

 12 

• engaging promptly with other organisations; 

• the effectiveness of continuing supervision; and 

• the outcomes for children. 

Of the 73 cases we assessed, we referred 11 (10 cases and 1 thematic issue) back to 
the force. In these instances, our analysis of the evidence in case records showed 
serious problems remained. We found: 

• failures by the force to make sure it was protecting children; 

• cases where the force should have worked with a partner organisation; and 

• cases where it appeared a child might still be at risk of significant harm from an 
offender because the force hadn’t intervened meaningfully. 

We also referred back to the force our concern about cases in which it didn’t act 
quickly enough to safeguard children at risk from known suspects. In these cases, it 
didn’t establish a safeguarding plan or share information with partner organisations. 

The force responded to all our referrals. Senior managers reviewed the cases, 
updated risk assessments and, where needed, acted on our concerns. 

Breakdown of case file audit results by area of child protection 

Cases assessed involving enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 

• 2 good 

• 8 require improvement 

• 1 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• evidence of good initial action by responding officers; 

• prompt joint strategy discussions with safeguarding partners; 

• missing wider safeguarding concerns for children, for example, the siblings of 
children involved in cases; and 

• a lack of joint home visits or joint investigations. 

Cases assessed involving referrals relating to domestic abuse incidents or 

crimes 

• 3 good 

• 5 require improvement 

• 2 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• evidence of the force control room helping responding officers by giving them 
up-to-date information, which informs risk assessment and decision-making; 

• officers consistently use body-worn video (BWV) at scenes; but 

• investigating officers don’t always make clear investigation plans; 

Page 43

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/47
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/strategy-discussions/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/force-control-room/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/body-worn-video/


 

 13 

• officers and staff don’t always consider broader safeguarding risks to children; and 

• attending officers don’t consistently seek or record the voice of the child (VoC). 

Cases assessed involving referrals arising from incidents other than domestic 

abuse 

• 4 good 

• 3 require improvement 

• 3 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• the force promptly allocates resources for immediate and priority calls; 

• there is little evidence of a joint approach to investigations; 

• officers don’t always consider the VoC or wider safeguarding issues; and 

• supervision is sometimes limited and ineffective. 

Cases assessed involving children at risk from child sexual exploitation 

• 1 good 

• 6 require improvement 

• 8 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• the force uses vulnerability markers, flags and child abduction warning notices 
(CAWNs) to safeguard children; but 

• officers don’t always consider risks to other children; 

• officers don’t always share information with CSC services quickly enough; 

• there is little evidence of a joint approach to CSE investigations; and 

• officers and supervisors don’t always recognise CSE risks. 

Cases assessed involving missing children 

• 0 good 

• 1 requires improvement 

• 5 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• the force routinely flags children at risk of harm; 

• the force doesn’t always share information about missing children with CSC, and 
there is little supervision; 

• officers rarely focus on the wider vulnerability of the missing child; 

• officers don’t routinely use trigger plans to find children quickly; and 

• supervision of activity and records is inconsistent. 

Page 44

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/voice-of-the-child/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/child-abduction-warning-notice/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/trigger-plan/


 

 14 

Cases assessed involving children taken to a place of safety under section 46 of 

the Children Act 1989 

• 2 good 

• 3 require improvement 

• 1 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• responding officers consider vulnerable children’s circumstances and make 
effective decisions to remove children with appropriate use of the power; 

• officers don’t always hold strategy discussions, or record end results or joint plans; 

• officers inappropriately use police stations as places of safety; and 

• managers don’t consistently supervise cases or record when the police protection 
powers end. 

Cases involving sex offender management in which children have been 

assessed as at risk from the person being managed 

• 1 good 

• 2 require improvement 

• 6 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• visits to offenders are usually unannounced, and officers tailor risk assessments to 
the needs of each case; 

• officers don’t assess offenders’ risks appropriately or quickly enough; 

• specialist officers don’t always share intelligence with frontline officers; and 

• when officers know about risk, they are inconsistent about sharing the information 
with CSC. 

Cases assessed involving children detained in police custody 

• 0 good 

• 6 require improvement 

• 0 inadequate. 

Common themes include: 

• officers understand they should only arrest children as a last resort; 

• appropriate adults don’t always attend custody quickly enough; 

• the force doesn’t routinely tell CSC or youth justice services about safeguarding 
concerns; and 

• officers don’t always listen to or record the VoC. 

Page 45

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/46
https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1989/41/section/46


 

 15 

5. Initial contact 

The force control room uses flags well to highlight risks to children 

Police officers and staff working in the control room manage the force’s response to 
calls from members of the public. They are responsible for handling calls and 
dispatching officers. Those working in the control room obtain relevant information 
from callers, then they search police databases to identify risk and grade responses. 
The force uses a framework called THRIVE to risk assess each incident. The force 
incident manager (FIM) decides what resources the force will allocate to an incident. 
The FIM shares this information with the critical incident inspector, who is responsible 
for managing and overseeing decisions. 

The force’s information systems use markers known as flags to highlight to officers 
and police staff important information about risk or vulnerability. This helps to identify 
children who may be at risk. This includes those who have a child protection plan, 
those at risk of CSE or domestic abuse, and missing children. The flag is removed 
when no longer needed. Flags mean control room staff can alert attending officers 
to risk. 

 

Case study: the force responds to a call about domestic abuse 

The mother of a ten-year-old boy contacted police and said she couldn’t cope with 
her son. While speaking to the operator, she disclosed she had assaulted him. 

The call handler rightly graded the call for an immediate response. Officers were 
dispatched to the home and arrived within 11 minutes. 

The call handler conducted checks and found a flag showing the boy had a child 
protection plan in place for emotional harm. The call handler gave officers this 
information before they arrived at the home. 

Having this information and passing it to responding officers was vital as it meant 
officers could take safeguarding action to protect the child. 

Page 46

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/thrive/


 

 16 

 

The force’s initial response to missing children is inconsistent and 

leaves some children at high risk 

When callers report a person missing, control room staff determine the risk grading 
and the response. We found the force initially grades missing children as pending 
assessment. This is based on the question set and THRIVE assessment call 
takers use. Staff often grade the missing child according to the current incident, not 
the child’s history. The FIM sends the case to the critical incident inspector to add the 
full grading. 

Under the force’s procedure, police should assess any missing child at least as 
medium risk. We found the force routinely grades high-risk children as medium risk, 
using no context to inform the assessment. This means it isn’t effectively using a 
child’s history to manage the risk and respond promptly. This can result in the force 
leaving children at risk of harm. 

Police can use trigger plans as a tool to record important actions and information, 
which can guide officers’ initial action when a vulnerable child goes missing. We found 
that North Yorkshire Police doesn’t use trigger plans consistently. We didn’t see 
evidence of the force using trigger plans in any of the cases we reviewed. This is a 
missed opportunity, severely undermining how effective the force’s response is to the 
most vulnerable missing children. 

There are no routine reviews of how well staff perform in the 

control room 

The force inconsistently reviews how well control room staff perform in relation to 
officers attending incidents. It doesn’t routinely carry out analysis to understand 
patterns. For example, we saw some incidents where control room staff 
inappropriately coded missing children as ‘cause for concern’. In these instances, they 
effectively downgraded the incident; they should have coded the child as missing. 
Inappropriate coding can result in a less effective service. We didn’t see a review 
process to make sure that coding is done well and that the force treats risk in the 
right way. 

Case study: call handlers carry out a firearms check in a domestic abuse 

incident 

Police were called to a domestic abuse incident, where a woman said she had 
been assaulted by her partner. She said there were two children, aged seven and 
nine, at the address. They were asleep in bed. 

The call handler did a firearms check, which showed the suspect held a firearms 
licence. The FIM carried out a good risk assessment and advised attending 
officers to seize any weapons. Having this information in advance helped officers 
make decisions while at the incident. 

The force sent a detailed referral to CSC services, and it shared information with 
firearms licensing. 

Page 47



 

 17 

The force told us there are no problems with allocating the right resources to incidents, 
but it carries out no routine checks to confirm this is correct. This means it can’t be 
confident it doesn’t downgrade incidents inappropriately when there is no officer 
available to attend. 

The force supervises missing children incidents inconsistently 

The force holds DMMs in each of its three areas. Managers sometimes discuss 
missing children at these meetings. But divisional leaders aren’t aware of children at 
high risk of harm as a result of going missing repeatedly. 

We also found most records don’t contain supervisors’ entries showing they are 
making sure officers carry out the right inquiries. Instead, we saw supervisors 
endorsing investigations, without directing officers on how to pursue the case. 

We also saw that officers don’t routinely submit PPNs for missing children. In some of 
the cases we saw with PPNs, officers hadn’t recorded the VoC well enough, and 
sometimes they hadn’t recorded it at all. The quality of PPNs is variable, and there is 
little supervision or feedback. So the force may not be carrying out the right activity to 
find missing children, according to their true level of vulnerability. 

Officers inform schools about children present at domestic abuse 

incidents 

We were pleased to see that officers at the force record the school details of children 
in the household when domestic abuse incidents take place. If a child attends a school 
in North Yorkshire, the force shares the details of the incident directly with the school. 
These referrals go via Operation Encompass to the safeguarding lead at the 
child’s school. This lets the safeguarding lead support the child at school, and monitor 
their welfare and safety. 

Officers often don’t speak to children, listen to them, or record their 

behaviour and demeanour 

The force encourages officers to speak to children, check on them and record what 
they say, particularly at domestic abuse incidents. In all domestic abuse audits we 
completed, officers switched on their BWV. But we found that officers often don’t 
speak to children consistently, or record their concerns, behaviour and demeanour. 

How a child behaves gives important information about how an incident has affected 
them. This is especially true where the child is too young to speak to officers, or where 
the child may be at risk if they speak to officers with a parent present. Officers should 
watch how the child behaves. This should inform both their initial assessment of the 
child’s needs and the decision as to whether to refer the child to CSC services. 

Page 48

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/op-encompass/


 

 18 

 

 

Case study: officers submit a PPN without considering a sibling’s needs 

well enough 

The mother of a 16-year-old male suspect reported a domestic abuse incident. 
She said he had caused criminal damage at his home address and threatened 
his stepfather. There was a 17-year-old male sibling at the address. 

Control room staff appropriately graded the incident as immediate and officers 
attended promptly. They used BWV and arrested the suspect. 

Officers submitted a PPN, but this was based on the suspect. It didn’t consider the 
sibling’s needs well enough. 

The force managed the suspect with a community resolution, having consulted 
the mother and stepfather on their views for this outcome. But it didn’t consult the 
17-year-old sibling. 

Recommendations 

We recommend that North Yorkshire Police immediately reviews its processes 
regarding incidents relating to child protection, paying particular attention to how 
control room staff make decisions on officer response. 

We recommend that within three months North Yorkshire Police acts to make sure 
officers obtain and record children’s concerns and views (including noting their 
behaviour and demeanour). This will help influence the decisions the force makes 
about them. 

Page 49

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/community-resolution/


 

 19 

6. Assessment and help 

Statutory guidance in Working together to safeguard children (2018) states: 

Everyone who works with children has a responsibility for keeping them safe. 
No single practitioner can have a full picture of a child’s needs and circumstances 
and, if children and families are to receive the right help at the right time, everyone 
who comes into contact with them has a role to play in identifying concerns, 
sharing information and taking prompt action. 

The force has developed an efficient system for sharing information 

with safeguarding partners 

The force supports two multi-agency safeguarding hubs (MASHs) in its area: City of 
York MASH and North Yorkshire County Council’s multi-agency screening team. 
The force’s vulnerability assessment team (VAT) oversees referrals to the local 
authority of children and vulnerable adults at risk of harm. It also makes sure police 
attend strategy meetings. The force has a clear and well-established process for 
referral to the MASH so it can share concerns with partner agencies. 

Officers generally submit and send PPNs, but they often don’t 

record enough detail 

When an officer has a concern for a child, they submit a PPN. The VAT screens the 
PPN before sharing it with the local authority. We found that officers generally 
complete and send PPNs, but the quality is often not good enough. Before our 
inspection, internal reviews at the force had also shown inconsistencies in the way 
officers submit PPNs. 

Although responding officers usually submit PPNs, in online child abuse cases and 
cases involving the management of violent or sexual offenders, officers don’t always 
submit PPNs promptly enough. In some instances, they don’t submit them at all. 
We found that officers also often share PPNs directly with the relevant social worker, if 
they find a case is open with the local authority. If they shared those PPNs with the 
MASH team, information could be fully assessed and the MASH team could consult 
other safeguarding partners if needed. 

We found that the quality of PPNs is inconsistent. Some have good levels of detail 
with a focus on the children. But some simply outline the circumstances of the case. 
And in some instances, officers don’t submit PPNs when they should. 

Page 50

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/multi-agency-safeguarding-hub-mash/


 

 20 

The force holds strategy discussions promptly when the risk is clear 

When a child is clearly at significant risk of physical harm, a supervisor at the force 
contacts partner organisations (including CSC and health professionals) to hold 
strategy discussions. In these circumstances, the force clearly documents on its Niche 
system the details of the strategy discussion and the outcome. We saw contributions 
from relevant organisations that resulted in decisions as to whether to carry out a joint 
investigation. The force had clearly recorded those decisions, and had promptly 
allocated the case to the right team to carry out the agreed enquiries. 

When the risk to children comes from outside the family, the force 

doesn’t hold strategy discussions consistently 

Working together to safeguard children (2018) states that a strategy discussion should 
take place when there is reasonable cause to suspect a child is suffering or likely to 
suffer significant harm. Any safeguarding organisation, including the police, can 
request this discussion. North Yorkshire Police routinely attends strategy meetings 
about incidents needing an enquiry under section 47 of the Children Act 1989 (for 
example, physical harm or neglect). But officers aren’t always taking a contextual 
safeguarding approach in cases such as missing children, child sexual abuse or 
online abuse. This means they aren’t always fully considering the relationships 
children may have with people outside the home, including online. 

Page 51

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/niche/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/contextual-safeguarding/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/contextual-safeguarding/


 

 21 

 

The force contributes well to long-term multi-agency safeguarding 

plans 

North Yorkshire Police employs dedicated staff to research for and attend child 
protection conferences. Members of the force told us they attend almost all initial child 
protection conferences to discuss and agree long-term safeguarding plans with 
partners. When a child is made the subject of a child protection plan, the force flags 
this on Niche, so staff attending incidents are aware of the risks to the child. 

The constabulary has developed arrangements that support those 

affected by domestic abuse 

The force has a dedicated domestic abuse team of police staff. They support frontline 
officers by: 

• reviewing PPNs (and requesting them from officers, when needed); 

• ensuring safeguarding measures are in place; and 

• overseeing domestic violence protection orders and domestic violence disclosure 
scheme requests. 

Case study: the force doesn’t respond well enough to a report of child 

sexual exploitation 

A mother called police to express concerns that her 17-year-old daughter was 
being sexually exploited by an adult man and woman. She said money had been 
deposited in her daughter’s bank account, and her daughter had received 
payments for phone top-ups. She also said unidentified men had previously driven 
the child to a countryside area in a car. 

The call taker didn’t apply THRIVE to the call and graded it as a concern for 
safety. They passed it to the neighbourhood desk for a scheduled visit. 

The neighbourhood desk allocated it to a PCSO, who spoke to the mother. 
The PCSO later submitted a PPN, recording the exploitation concerns. They didn’t 
record the VoC as no one from the force had seen or spoken to her. 

The force passed the PPN to a social worker without a request for a strategy 
discussion. There was no safeguarding plan or detective supervision until 15 days 
after the report. 

The force and CSC identified the need for a joint visit, but no strategy discussion 
took place to plan this or discuss the safeguarding arrangements. The closing 
supervisor’s review didn’t consider ongoing safeguarding, multi-agency child 
exploitation (MACE) referrals or ongoing risk. 

A strategy meeting at the outset, with partners, would have helped identify risks 
and concerns. The force and its partners could have developed a clear 
safeguarding plan. 

Page 52



 

 22 

We found evidence of this team’s impact in our case audits. They routinely share 
important information with officers, and they act as a safety net for the force, for 
example, when officers don’t submit PPNs. But this does highlight the inexperience of 
many officers working on domestic abuse cases. There are no mandatory child 
protection training days for officers, some of whom told us there is no formal training 
or CPD available. 

The MARACs are effective when police and partners refer cases 

The police and partner organisations, such as CSC and independent services, refer 
high-risk domestic abuse cases to a multi-agency risk assessment conference 
(MARAC) to make longer-term safeguarding plans. These conferences take place 
every two weeks in North Yorkshire county, and weekly in York, where the volume of 
cases is larger. The meetings are now held remotely, with a good level of attendance 
from partners. The force uses its escalation policy to highlight matters needing 
attention. Domestic abuse officers refer cases to the MARAC, and they prepare and 
present the police information. 

We reviewed MARAC minutes and found the meetings are regular and well-attended 
by police and partners. The minutes are clearly visible in Niche, and we found 
appropriate plans to help support subsequent safeguarding decisions. 

The force’s understanding of child sexual exploitation has some 

weaknesses 

The force has a missing and exploitation team responsible for child exploitation, 
missing persons, modern slavery and human trafficking. The team covers the whole 
force area, identifying those at most risk of CSE and supporting officers in their 
investigations. Where there is a CSE concern, the team researches and contributes 
to multi-agency risk assessments. But with one sergeant and one member of police 
staff, the team is under-resourced. This means it can’t always assist investigators 
with conducting investigations into offences. The force allocates CSE investigations 
in the same way as other child abuse investigations, as the team primarily has a 
co-ordinating function. We saw that teams carrying out CSE investigations don’t 
receive specialist child abuse investigation training. 

When police identify a child to be at risk of CSE, the force refers the child to the MACE 
panel, which includes organisations from education, health services, CSC and the 
voluntary sector. There are multiple MACE meetings across the two local authority 
areas, with notable differences in both areas. A neighbourhood chief inspector 
usually chairs the MACE meetings in York, while in North Yorkshire county, CSC 
services chair the meetings. There can be as many as 12 meetings in total in a week. 
We found inconsistencies in the meetings, such as different risk assessment 
processes without any guidelines. Those present at the meetings often discuss risks 
to children, but there isn’t enough clarity on risk management or safeguarding plans. 

Page 53

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/multi-agency-risk-assessment-conference/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/multi-agency-risk-assessment-conference/


 

 23 

The force has scrutinised its CSE capability, but it isn’t acting on the 

results 

Before our inspection, the force conducted a random sample of its CSE and child 
criminal exploitation (CCE) cases to better understand how it identifies children at risk. 
Officers reviewed 70 cases with CSE or CCE flags, and 50 cases where children were 
marked as cause for concern. It found: 

• almost half of the 70 cases it reviewed as CSE or CCE were incorrectly flagged, 
showing a poor understanding; 

• some cases still needed investigation; 

• there was often a lack of investigation or safeguarding plan; and 

• the force didn’t always use THRIVE. 

These findings mirror some of the themes we found in our inspection. For example, 
we found that call takers didn’t complete THRIVE assessments in all the CSE cases 
we audited. While it is encouraging that the force reviews practice and identifies 
concerns, we didn’t see evidence of it implementing its own recommendations. 

The force doesn’t know enough about the standard of its practice 

when children go missing 

Senior leaders told us the missing team reviews every episode involving a missing 
person and makes sure a PPN is submitted. But we saw that PPNs are submitted 
inconsistently, at best. The team reports areas for improvement or good practice to 
divisional commanders or at the vulnerability board meeting. 

But the force doesn’t have a framework for regularly assessing how good its overall 
practice is in cases of missing children. Although strategic responsibility for missing 
people lies with the protecting vulnerable people (PVP) team, we didn’t find a system 
for consistently reviewing cases involving missing children. A framework would allow 
the force to better understand how well it responds when people go missing. 

Officers and staff in North Yorkshire have had very little training about missing children 
since joining the police. Officers on the response team haven’t had specific child 
protection training, so they rely on their supervisors and managers for support and 
direction. The force monitors training via College Learn (formerly National Centre for 
Applied Learning Technologies/NCALT) packages, but it doesn’t evaluate or 
understand the impact of the training. 

The force loses some opportunities to understand why children go 

missing 

Return home interviews (RHIs) uncover information that can help protect children from 
going missing again. This can include risks they may have been exposed to while 
missing, as well as risk factors at home. The RHI is a conversation between a child 
and a trained professional when they return from being missing. Department for 
Education statutory guidance requires local authorities to offer this service. It must be 
conducted by an independent person and police must record it on their systems. 

Page 54

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/protecting-vulnerable-people-pvp/
https://www.college.police.uk/article/introducing-college-learn-for-everyone-across-policing
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/national-centre-applied-learning/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/return-home-interviews/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/children-who-run-away-or-go-missing-from-home-or-care


 

 24 

In North Yorkshire, when a missing child returns or is found, the officer should have 
filled in a management of return (MOR) form and electronically shared it with CSC, 
coupled with the automatic notification of missing children. The force policy says this is 
to assist the local authority in offering every missing child an RHI. But staff don’t 
always complete these forms. For example, we observed a meeting to discuss 
missing children, and in half of the cases discussed, staff hadn’t completed an MOR to 
alert CSC. We also saw that staff didn’t complete a significant number of PPN 
referrals to highlight other concerns. 

This means important information, which might help with future risk assessments, 
may not be available. The force doesn’t check often enough whether this information 
is submitted, so it needs to do remedial work later. As a result, children stay at risk 
of harm. It also means the local authority doesn’t know about important information 
that may help to stop risk escalating, or might inform their response. 

The force is trying to improve its response to children who go 

missing from care, but it doesn’t always make information available 

to officers 

North Yorkshire has a scheme called No Wrong Door, which supports people aged 
13 to 25 in or on the edge of the county’s care system. Historically, when children 
reach the age of 18, their level of support changes significantly. No Wrong Door 
aims to decriminalise young people and give them a better chance at a normal life. 
Social workers refer young people experiencing difficulties to the scheme, and police 
officers are embedded in two hubs, which combine residential care with fostering. 
One is in the east of the county and the other is in the west. The scheme, which 
receives high praise from its partner organisations, had 69 young people on it at the 
time of our inspection. 

Using an approach called Risk, Analysis, Intervention, Solution and Evaluation 
(RAISE), the force and other agencies identify, consider and manage potential and 
current risks to young people on the No Wrong Door scheme. Members of the force 
told us officers create safety plans for the vulnerable children they discuss at RAISE 
meetings. But we saw that minutes, and actions about young people, are recorded on 
social care systems, not on police systems. The force told us this is intentional, as 
when information needs sharing, it is placed on a briefing. But this practice means that 
when police find vulnerable children, they don’t always have important information 
about that child’s circumstances, meaning they may not respond in the right way. 

Page 55

https://www.northyorks.gov.uk/no-wrong-door


 

 25 

 

Recommendations 

We recommend that North Yorkshire Police immediately improves its missing 
children arrangements and practices. This is to make sure: 

• its response is consistent with the risks it identifies; and 

• its supervision of those inquiries is effective. 

It should include a review of how it records incidents involving missing children. 
And it should make staff more aware of: 

• their responsibility for protecting children reported missing from home, 
especially where this happens regularly; 

• the importance of investigating where a child has been, and who with; 

• their responsibility for conducting and recording safe and well checks when 
children return home; and 

• the importance of sharing information with partner organisations. 

We recommend that North Yorkshire Police immediately starts working more 
closely with its safeguarding partners, and that it reviews the structure and 
practices of its multi-agency risk management meetings, specifically about 
children at risk of exploitation. 

We recommend that within three months North Yorkshire Police reviews its 
referral processes and supervision. This is to make sure it identifies risk to 
children effectively and shares the right information with the right people at the 
right time. 

Page 56



 

 26 

7. Investigation 

The force allocates some investigations to officers without the right 

skills and experience 

North Yorkshire Police doesn’t have a specialist child abuse investigations team. 
It allocates some child abuse investigations to detectives in the CID, and others 
stay with frontline officers, with supervision by a detective sergeant. But frontline 
officers aren’t trained to conduct child protection investigations, and joint working 
with other organisations (such as joint visits and joint interviews) doesn’t take place 
often enough. We found limited evidence of contact with CSC services. 

There was also very little evidence of cases being supervised, or of meaningful 
involvement from first and second line managers. These cases often involve CSE 
offences. We saw that, in these situations, investigations aren’t child-centred, and 
officers don’t always consider wider safeguarding. 

The force’s investigation procedure outlines how it allocates crimes to officers, and 
how they should investigate them. It also states that PIP 2 accredited detectives 
should investigate crimes involving children. However, some parts of the procedure 
are open to interpretation. As a result, we found inexperienced officers, without 
the proper accreditation or training, managing some child abuse investigations. 
This includes investigators, supervisors and those responsible for conducting 
strategy discussions. 

 

Case study: police don’t respond quickly enough to a report of child sexual 

abuse 

Police received an email from a concerned father. He reported that his  
three-year-old daughter was at risk of sexual abuse from the child’s mother’s 
partner. 

North Yorkshire Police didn’t allocate or review the case for 15 hours. 
Once allocated, officers took too long to contact the father, who lived outside the 
force area. It was seven days before the force spoke to CSC to make sure the 
child was seen. 

Officers didn’t see the child until six weeks after the initial call. During that time, 
the force didn’t know what risk the child was exposed to. 

Page 57

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/professionalising-investigations-programme/


 

 27 

Limited supervision is leading to drift and delay in many 

investigations 

In most of the cases we reviewed, there was little case direction from sergeants. 
Safeguarding plans were often missing, even when the case was complex. 
Often, supervisors’ first involvement with cases is at the time of case closure. And they 
often don’t discuss the case with the investigating officer. We saw very few cases 
where an inspector had reviewed investigations, especially cases allocated to 
response teams. This leads to drift and delay in many investigations. 

When the force allocates cases to specialists, the standard of 

investigation is better 

When there is clear risk to children from the outset, the force responds swiftly and 
attending officers make good decisions. Investigations are child-focused and officers 
usually record joint actions they agree with partner organisations. But supervision is 
sometimes inconsistent. 

 

Officers often miss investigative opportunities to safeguard children 

when dealing with CSE 

The force uses vulnerability markers and flags to identify children at risk of CSE. 
Officers also make referrals to MACE meetings. This helps to make sure they 
discuss these children with partner organisations. But investigations of CSE 
offences are often poor, as officers don’t consider the flags and markers. This is 
because the force allocates cases to officers without the right skills, experience 
or training. And supervision is often lacking. This affects the safeguarding of victims 
and the quality of investigation. 

Case study: despite little supervision, officers carry out a good domestic 

abuse investigation 

The force launched a domestic abuse investigation when a woman told police she 
had been assaulted at home by her ex-partner, causing significant facial injuries. 
The victim’s seven-year-old son was asleep at the time of the incident. 

Police submitted a detailed PPN, capturing the child’s voice, and shared it 
with CSC. Staff placed high-risk domestic abuse flags on police systems. 

When the suspect was arrested, the force allocated the case to a PIP 2 
investigator. Although there was no investigation plan and little supervision, the 
quality of the investigation was good. 

The investigator considered a domestic violence protection notice (DVPN) and 
appropriate bail conditions for when the suspect was released from custody. 
The investigator also gave information to support a non-molestation order. 
The suspect was eventually charged and bailed to court. 

Page 58

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/domestic-violence-protection-notice/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/non-molestation-order/


 

 28 

The force also misses investigative opportunities when children are sexually abused 
online. This may allow perpetrators to commit more offences. The force regularly 
assigns these cases inappropriately to inexperienced officers, including those in 
response roles. These officers don’t have the technical knowledge, experience, skills 
or accreditation to investigate these offences. And supervision of these crimes is often 
poor. We found the force rarely records meaningful reviews, meaning these officers 
don’t receive enough direction or help. This is resulting in poor outcomes for children. 

 

Case study: the force responds quickly to an incident involving a CAWN, 

but investigators act slowly to safeguard the child 

Police were called when an intoxicated 14-year-old female was found half-naked 
with an adult male. There was a CAWN in place, meaning the man wasn’t allowed 
to be in the company of that child. 

The force dispatched officers quickly and they arrived within ten minutes. 
They identified the CAWN and arrested the suspect. But they didn’t consider 
sexual offences or forensic opportunities. They also didn’t give support to the child 
or her family. 

They submitted a PPN ten days late. There was no update from the multi-agency 
screening team and no request for a strategy meeting. 

The child was known to MACE, but this didn’t prompt a MACE review, safety 
planning or sexual health referrals, even though the child had contact with the 
suspect after the incident. 

The MACE review eventually took place six months after the incident. The force 
allocated the case to a PIP 1 investigator, with no recorded review or supervision 
by a PIP 2 investigator. 

There was no joint approach with CSC services. Officers didn’t record any 
consideration of building a relationship with the victim to support her. 

The child eventually moved to another force area. There was no record of a 
MACE transfer to tell the other force about potential risks. 

Page 59



 

 29 

 

The force needs to improve the way it tackles CSE 

The force has recognised it must improve the way it tackles CSE. The force 
recognised this in an internal review it conducted into how it responds to and 
manages CSE. 

The force’s CSE unit covers the whole force area, but it doesn’t have enough capacity 
to support other teams’ investigations, especially as CSE officers often don’t have the 
right experience. The unit has no set of instructions outlining what the team should be 
doing. And its staff have had no CSE, child protection or vulnerability training to 
support them in their role. Officers told us they had no job description, so they didn’t 
understand the role they were expected to perform. Although the unit covers the 
force’s area, other teams (such as CID and response teams) don’t share information 
with it, so there is no force-wide co-ordination of safeguarding activity. This means the 
force has an inconsistent understanding of those children most at risk and the 
perpetrators presenting the highest risk. 

It is positive to see the force has taken steps to understand better how its officers are 
responding to CSE, but it needs to do more work to protect children more effectively. 

There is little evidence of the force working effectively with other 

organisations 

In some parts of the country, children’s safeguarding partnerships respond to 
vulnerable children and disrupt offenders using multi-agency operational teams. 
In North Yorkshire, there are strong safeguarding partnerships at a planning level, but 
operational joint working is inconsistent. We saw little evidence of joint investigations 
with CSC or safeguarding professionals from other organisations. There were few 
records of joint visits to children and families in the cases we reviewed. As strategy 
discussions with partners aren’t routine, the force doesn’t always consider who is best 
placed to speak to the child. 

Case study: police don’t speak to a child who may be at risk of CSE 

A male, believed to be abroad, contacted a 14-year-old girl. He asked her for a 
photo and she confirmed her age. He also sent her a nude photo of himself. 
Over the next five days, he sent money to the girl. Her parents noted a change in 
the girl’s behaviour and called police, having seized her phone. 

Police attended and spoke to parents. They didn’t speak to the child as she 
was at school. They didn’t consider evidence on the phone as they said it had 
been reset. They didn’t seek expert advice from the digital forensics unit, and they 
didn’t seize the phone. 

Without seeing the child, officers submitted a PPN, stating that they didn’t believe 
any CSE was occurring. There was minimal supervision of the case, and officers 
didn’t record any actions. There was no mention of seizing the child’s phone or 
downloading information from it, so they may have missed evidence. 

The force passed details of the suspect to the relevant authorities overseas. 

Page 60



 

 30 

The force usually acts promptly to trace those sharing child abuse 

images, but there are significant delays in downloading from devices 

The force OAT investigates the sharing and distribution of child abuse images online. 
It also deals with referrals from the National Society for the Prevention of Cruelty to 
Children (NSPCC) and from the National Crime Agency’s child exploitation and online 
protection (CEOP) command. 

The force has worked hard to manage how many offences are committed in its area. 
It regularly reviews its systems to identify potential offenders. We found it usually 
deals with cases within its timescales. 

The digital forensics unit (DFU) is responsible for downloads from phones officers 
have seized and submitted for forensic analysis. We saw that officers are generally 
seizing phones, but there are significant delays in downloading from devices in the 
DFU. These delays average six months but some take as long as a year. 

Some investigations stall while officers wait for the results of the analysis. Due to the 
backlog, some suspects are bailed in this period, however, the force told us that they 
use conditions to mitigate the risk posed to children. The force knows it needs to 
prioritise this area of work. It has invested significantly (£2.5m) in the unit, which will 
increase staff and specialist equipment. This should help the force address the 
backlog and safeguard children sooner. 

The force doesn’t share information with its safeguarding partners 

early enough 

We found officers rarely share information with the MASH until activity, such as 
executing a search warrant, takes place. This is a missed opportunity. The force 
should be sharing information with partners to better understand the risks to children. 

Supervisors told us they expect the team to share information with CSC as soon as 
they are aware of the risk to children. But officers told us that executing a warrant, or 
similar action, is what prompts them to refer to CSC. They say this is often because 
they don’t know full details about the case until they have executed the warrant. 

Even so, officers are missing opportunities to share information with other 
organisations, and to take account of known risks to children during 
intelligence-gathering. This would help them better understand the risks and put 
protective plans in place before carrying out activity. 

Page 61

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/child-exploitation-online-protection/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/child-exploitation-online-protection/


 

 31 

 

Recommendations 

We recommend that North Yorkshire Police immediately improves child protection 
investigations by making sure: 

• it assigns investigations to officers with the skills, capacity and competence to 
carry them out them effectively; 

• it effectively supervises investigations, with reviews clearly recording any 
further work that is needed; 

• safeguarding referrals are prompt and comprehensive; 

• it gives enough support to multi-agency investigations; and 

• it regularly audits the quality of its practice, including how effective its 
safeguarding measures are, focusing on getting the best end results for 
children. 

We recommend that within three months North Yorkshire Police improves its 
understanding of CSE, in particular: 

• improving staff awareness, knowledge and skills in this area of work; 

• making sure it responds promptly to all concerns; 

• carrying out risk assessments that consider all the child’s circumstances and 
risks to other children; and 

• improving the way it supervises and manages cases. 

Page 62



 

 32 

8. Decision making 

The force used police protection powers appropriately in all the 

cases we audited 

It is a very serious step to remove a child from a family by way of police protection. 
When there are concerns about children’s safety, such as parents leaving young 
children at home alone or being intoxicated while looking after them, officers handle 
incidents well. When assessing the need to take immediate action, they use their 
powers appropriately to remove children from harm’s way. 

In the cases we examined, decisions to take a child to a place of safety were well-
considered and made in the best interests of the child. 

Officers don’t always properly record their use of police protection 

powers 

Although we saw cases where officers made enquiries to safeguard children promptly 
and effectively, there isn’t always a full record of it on police systems. Officers don’t 
always record details of strategy discussions with CSC, including the actions they 
agree to safeguard and promote the welfare of the child. 

Forces can use police protection powers for a maximum of 72 hours, and officers 
should make a record when the powers end. But when the powers are rescinded 
before the maximum time has elapsed (such as when a child goes into the care of a 
family member) officers at the force rarely record these details. Nor do they record 
details of what the longer-term protective plan is likely to be. 

 

Case study: police use protection powers well, but they don’t make good 

enough records 

A 12-year-old boy in a park reported to a third party that he and his siblings had 
been assaulted by both parents. Police attended promptly and exercised their 
powers appropriately and quickly. 

But they didn’t properly record or document the use of the powers. It wasn’t clear 
when the powers ended, or whether the force consulted CSC about emergency 
protection orders, for example. There was a lack of clear direction from the 
designated officer, and handover documents weren’t available. 

Page 63



 

 33 

Officers take steps to avoid taking children to police stations while 

in police protection 

The force’s policy states: “A police station is not suitable accommodation. A child 
under police protection should not be brought to a police station except in 
exceptional circumstances.” We found in our audits that officers are making early 
contact with CSC services when seeking suitable accommodation for children, to 
avoid bringing children to a police station. However, this doesn’t occur in all instances. 
And when it does occur, it is unclear whether the force is escalating these matters with 
CSC services. 

 

 

Case study: officers put the child’s welfare first, but they don’t make good 

enough records 

A 15-year-old boy was found in the early hours of the morning. The child didn’t 
speak English and officers had concerns about his mental health, which made 
their job more difficult. 

They established that the child had been abandoned by his mother. Putting the 
child’s welfare first, they quickly used powers of protection to safeguard him. 
Although there was some discussion with CSC, they didn’t find a placement for 
him, so officers took him to the police station. 

Officers didn’t record or document: 

• the review of the child at the police station; 

• a review of continuing grounds for the protection powers; 

• any handover documents; 

• details of when the powers ended; or 

• the outcome for the child. 

Recommendations 

We recommend that within three months North Yorkshire Police works with its 
partner agencies to make sure: 

• it takes children to an appropriate place of safety when it uses police 
protection powers; 

• it properly investigates offences; and 

• it properly records, and makes accessible, all relevant information. 

Page 64



 

 34 

9. Trusted adult 

North Yorkshire Youth Commission (NYYC) was established in 2015 with funding from 
the PFCC to give young people a voice on police and crime issues that matter to 
them. NYYC supports, challenges and informs the work of the PFCC and North 
Yorkshire Police. 

It is important children feel they can trust the police. We saw that, in some (though not 
all) child protection cases, officers consider the impact of their actions and explore the 
most effective ways to communicate with children. 

 

Such sensitivity builds confidence and creates stronger relationships between the 
police and the child, parents and/or carers. We found the force works well with 
external organisations, family members and other people to protect children when they 
need immediate safeguarding. In the cases where this happens, the force’s carefully 
considered and sensitive approach brings about good safeguarding outcomes for 
vulnerable children.  

Case study: officers respond sensitively and effectively to a suicidal child 

Police received calls about a suicidal 14-year-old girl in the sea. The police 
dispatcher graded the call for officers to arrive immediately. 

Police used CCTV and officers arrived within five minutes. Officers approached 
the girl, talked to her and encouraged her out of the water. 

An ambulance was requested. When it arrived, an officer accompanied the girl in 
the ambulance, listening to her account of entering the sea. She also made a 
disclosure about an assault by another child. 

At the hospital, the girl received help from mental health services. Officers made 
sure staff from the girl’s care home were supporting her, and they spoke to her 
social worker. 

Officers also made a detailed referral, recording the child’s wishes, and they 
shared it with CSC services. 

Page 65

https://www.northyorkshire-pfcc.gov.uk/for-you/young-people/youth/


 

 35 

The force engages well with children in the community 

The force has adopted some youth diversion schemes. These aim to keep children out 
of the criminal justice system and reduce the number of children who are criminalised. 
These schemes include: 

• Operation Choice – an educational pathway for under-18s involved in drugs 
possession, working with support services across the county; and 

• Operation Divan, which involves officers holding knife-crime awareness sessions, 
engaging with young people in schools or other venues. 

The force also supports the national Volunteer Police Cadets (VPC) programme. 
It aims to encourage good citizenship among its members and inspire young people to 
participate positively in their communities. In North Yorkshire, there are currently 
around 37 cadet leaders and 80 to 90 volunteer cadets aged 14 to 18. Cadets support 
community events such Armed Forces Day, the Tour de Yorkshire cycle race and 
Remembrance parades, as well as contributing to joint events with the army cadets. 

The force also encourages cadets to offer ideas about how to help raise awareness in 
the community about crime. It encourages cadets to list their ideas and create a 
campaign brief, working closely with the force’s communications team. This is a good 
example of the force promoting children’s voices. 

Page 66

https://vpc.police.uk/


 

 36 

10. Managing those who pose a risk to 
children 

Staffing levels in the team are good 

The force has a management of sexual offenders and violent offenders (MOSOVO) 
team, which is dedicated to multi-agency public protection arrangements (MAPPA). 

At the time of our inspection, there were 1,180 registered sex offenders (RSOs) in 
North Yorkshire, with 757 managed in the community. (Not all offenders convicted of 
sexual offences are subject to supervision.) This is an average ratio of about 50 to 55 
RSOs to one offender manager. This is within national recommendations 
(approximately 50:1). Those supervising offender managers organise their tasks well, 
and their workloads are manageable. 

The force employs a MAPPA administrator. The administrator has access to both 
police and probation systems, which makes it easier for those agencies to share 
information. The force also has a dedicated civil orders officer, who scans arrests daily 
and seeks opportunities to apply for orders, where officers identify this as the right 
response. These might include sexual harm prevention orders (SHPOs) and sexual 
risk orders (SROs). This proactive work shows good initiative and it protects children. 

All offender managers are trained in the MOSOVO. Staff working in the unit should 
also be trained to use the Violent and Sex Offender Register (ViSOR), but we found 
some staff hadn’t been trained to use the platform, and there was little time available 
for training. Staff told us they also need more training in the active risk management 
system (ARMS). 

The force uses risk management processes consistently 

When the police are the lead agency for managing an RSO, they should complete an 
ARMS assessment within 15 days. Based on the risks they identify, offender 
managers should develop a risk management plan, setting out how they will manage 
the risk the RSO poses and what actions they will take. This might include regularly 
visiting the offender. Officers should complete police ARMS assessments at least 
every 12 months, or when something happens that may significantly change the 
current assessment and risk management plan for the offender. 

We found North Yorkshire Police has a good understanding of ARMS processes and 
its responsibilities when it is the lead agency. But there are no routine performance 
tasks in place to measure how well staff complete ARMS assessments, and 
supervisors don’t fully oversee reviews and completions. This means officers aren’t 
always relying on risk management plans that are current. 

Page 67

https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/management-of-sexual-offenders-and-violent-offenders/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/mappa/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/sexual-harm-prevention-order/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/violent-and-sex-offender-register/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/active-risk-management/
https://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs/glossary/active-risk-management/


 

 37 

Better briefing of neighbourhood police teams would enhance the 

force’s intelligence-gathering 

We found that links between the MOSOVO and neighbourhood teams were 
under-developed throughout the force’s area. Offender managers brief neighbourhood 
teams and allocate them tasks on an ad hoc basis to gather intelligence about 
individuals. But offender managers don’t routinely share information about RSOs in 
briefing material. And staff in neighbourhood teams don’t report intelligence collection 
as part of their day-to-day duties. Neighbourhood teams can use Niche to search for 
RSOs in a particular area, and the force has promoted this function. But we found 
teams are rarely doing this. We also found frontline officers add very little intelligence 
to Niche. If the MOSOVO team briefed the neighbourhood teams more effectively, it 
could lead to better information gathering across the force, allowing it to better protect 
children. 

The force doesn’t record information about RSOs consistently 

ViSOR is a national database used for: 

• recording and sharing information about RSOs; and 

• recording activity to reduce the risk they pose. 

In North Yorkshire, we found that officers view the recording of information on 
both ViSOR and Niche (the force’s records management system) as duplication. 
This means they don’t always record information on both systems. They should be 
doing this. When an offender moves to another area or travels between areas, other 
forces can see the records on ViSOR if the information has been recorded properly. 
Officers in North Yorkshire don’t consistently record information on both systems, so 
when an offender travels from the area, other forces don’t have all the information 
they need. 

The force doesn’t always share information with children’s social 

care 

We found several cases where the force identified a child as potentially at risk from an 
RSO, but officers didn’t submit a PPN, or they submitted it after an unacceptable 
delay. In several cases, the offender manager judged the child to be not at risk without 
consulting CSC services. 

Page 68



 

 38 

 

 

Case study: officers record concerns about an RSO, but they don’t act 

quickly enough 

An RSO convicted of several online offences against children was released 
from custody after a prison term. During his initial notification, he told officers 
he intended to frequently visit the home of some friends, who have two 
young children. 

The offender manager visited the address and spoke to the occupants. 
They confirmed they had been friends with the RSO for several years. 
They said he had already visited them since his release from custody. They said 
they had told him he couldn’t visit again, and that he couldn’t have contact with 
their children. But the offender manager didn’t record details of the children or 
consider a referral to CSC. 

When the offender manager conducted a joint visit to the RSO with a member 
of the probation service, they noted that the RSO appeared to know a lot about 
the children’s routine. Again, the records show no consideration of a referral or 
further enquiries. 

The RSO was later arrested for breaching his SHPO. He was subsequently 
charged and recalled to prison. 

Officers recorded the case on Niche but not on ViSOR. 

There was no effective supervision of the case, meaning action to safeguard 
children was delayed. 

Recommendations 

We recommend that North Yorkshire Police immediately improves the way it 
manages RSOs, paying particular attention to: 

• how it records information on its systems; 

• how it shares information with frontline officers; and 

• how it shares information with CSC. 

Page 69



 

 39 

11. Police detention 

Custody staff don’t fully understand their role in safeguarding 

vulnerable children 

The force works actively to reduce the number of children it arrests and brings into 
police detention. This is encouraging. But it still needs to be more consistent in the 
way it prioritises safeguarding and children’s welfare throughout the detention 
process. 

Members of the force told us training for custody staff isn’t widely available, especially 
training on vulnerability and the VoC. As a result, they don’t consider submitting a 
PPN to be part of their role. 

If any safeguarding concerns become clear when a child is in custody, custody staff 
rely on investigating officers to make a referral to CSC on a PPN. For example, in 
some cases, custody staff did record the child’s vulnerability, but they didn’t make 
any referrals. 

When one child was detained for more than 20 hours, the healthcare practitioner 
(HCP) recorded concerns about self-harm and mental health on the child’s 
custody record. But no one then referred the child to CSC or shared information with 
youth justice services. 

Appropriate adults aren’t attending quickly enough to support 

children in custody 

Guidance under the Police and Criminal Evidence Act 1984 (PACE) states that once 
an appropriate adult is identified, officers should make sure that person attends the 
custody centre as soon as possible. In some of the cases we examined, there were 
long delays before appropriate adults attended. They usually arrived when the officers 
interviewed the child, so they couldn’t give early support. That support might include 
helping with overall welfare needs and informing children of their rights. As a result, 
children often don’t see anyone other than the police for too long. 

The force recognises this as an issue: an internal review had made recommendations 
to address this concern (as well as others). But we didn’t see any evidence of the 
force implementing its own recommendations. 

Page 70

https://www.legislation.gov.uk/ukpga/1984/60/contents


 

 40 

 

The force gives children in custody inconsistent welfare support 

Liaison and diversion (L&D) staff are available seven days a week between 
8.00am and 8.00pm. They work across the three custody suites: York, Scarborough 
and Harrogate. They assess the vulnerability and needs of young people who come 
into custody. Where appropriate, they refer the person to the relevant health or 
community-based services. North Yorkshire Police couldn’t tell us how many children 
and young people L&D staff had seen. 

PACE and its codes of practice set out a statutory framework for custodial care of 
young people. They require police forces to give care and treatment to those held 
in custody. Members of the force told us the contract with the HCP provider specifies 
that an HCP will only see children when the custody sergeant has raised a medical 
issue. HCPs can engage directly with a child in private, especially those reticent to 
disclose to officers, issues or concerns specific to their welfare and wellbeing. As a 
trusted adult, who is not a police officer, a child may feel more comfortable with 
disclosing information to an HCP that impacts on their risk assessment and 
safeguarding needs outside custody. 

An internal review carried out by the force suggested it would potentially be good 
practice for an HCP to visit all children in custody. This was put forward as an area for 
consideration. The review also found that HCPs see very few children unless there is 
an obvious physical injury. 

The force works to divert children away from custody 

The force has measures in place to make sure it doesn’t unnecessarily bring children 
into custody. Operation Choice is a force-led initiative that helps to keep children and 
young people out of custody when they are found in possession of drugs. The force’s 
intranet explains Operation Choice, giving staff guidance on support services, the 
need for an appropriate adult and other matters. Operation Divan is a knife-crime 
initiative, through which the force shares information with school liaison officers. 

Case study: officers risk assess and investigate a case involving a child 

well, but there are delays in an appropriate adult attending 

Officers arrested a 15-year-old boy on suspicion of robbery and possessing 
a knife. They promptly completed and recorded an appropriate risk assessment. 

More than 12 hours after his arrest, only police staff had seen the child. 
Despite the child’s history of self-harm and problems with reading and writing, no 
one from the force contacted an HCP. The appropriate adult attended in person 
about 14 hours after detention. 

Supervisors documented the main lines of enquiry and allocated the case to an 
experienced investigator. They then supervised the investigation in detail. 

The young person was found non-secure accommodation and detained for court 
the following day, where he pleaded guilty to all charges. 

Page 71



 

 41 

 

Recommendations 

We recommend that within three months North Yorkshire Police reviews how it 
manages the detention of children. The force should do this jointly with CSC 
services, youth offending services and other partner agencies. The review should 
consider, as a minimum, how best to: 

• make sure appropriate adults promptly attend the police station; 

• make sure officers consider the needs and voices of children, and refer them 
to CSC services, when needed; and 

• monitor how well the force works with its partners, and the support it gives 
children. 

Page 72



 

 42 

Conclusion 

The overall effectiveness of the force and its response to children 

who need help and protection 

During the inspection, we held daily meetings with senior officers and gave feedback 
from our initial findings. The leadership team is committed to protecting children and 
giving them better outcomes. The force is committed to improving how it protects 
vulnerable people, and it recognises it must safeguard children better. It needs to do 
more to help its officers and staff understand: 

• the need to safeguard children; and 

• the need to look beyond the obvious risk factors to identify and address any wider 
or underlying problems. 

The force works well with safeguarding partners from both local authority areas. It is 
an active member of the multi-agency safeguarding children partnerships and is 
represented at the right level on boards and subgroups, often leading the strategic 
direction. 

We found some good examples of the force protecting children in need of help, with 
good multi-agency work and a child-centred way of operating. In these cases, the 
force effectively combined investigative and safeguarding approaches. But we found 
that most cases we examined were inadequate or requiring improvement. The force 
had similar findings. 

North Yorkshire Police should continue to review its child protection arrangements 
and practices to make sure they focus on improving outcomes for vulnerable children. 
It should also put in place a clear structure for overseeing, and taking responsibility 
for, all aspects of the force’s child protection activity. 

We have therefore made recommendations that will help improve outcomes for 
children if the force acts on them. 

Next steps 

Within six weeks of the publication of this report, we require an update of the action 
the force has taken to respond to the recommendations where we have asked for 
immediate action. 

North Yorkshire Police should also provide an action plan, within six weeks of the 
publication of this report, setting out how it intends to respond to our other 
recommendations. 

Page 73



 

 43 

Subject to the update and action plan received, we will revisit North Yorkshire Police 
no later than six months after the publication of this report to assess how it is 
managing the implementation of all the recommendations. 

Page 74



 

 44 

Annex A – Child protection inspection 
methodology 

Objectives 

The objectives of the inspection are: 

• to assess how effectively police forces safeguard children at risk; 

• to make recommendations to police forces for improving child protection practice; 

• to highlight effective practice in child protection work; and 

• to drive improvements in forces’ child protection practices. 

The expectations of organisations are set out in the statutory guidance Working 
together to safeguard children: a guide to interagency working to safeguard and 
promote the welfare of children. The specific police roles set out in the guidance are: 

• the identification of children who might be at risk from abuse and neglect; 

• investigation of alleged offences against children; 

• inter-agency working and information sharing to protect children; and 

• the exercise of emergency powers to protect children. 

These areas of practice are the focus of the inspection. 

Inspection approach 

Inspections focus on the experience of, and outcomes for, children following their 
journey through the child protection and criminal investigation processes. They assess 
how well the police service has helped and protected children and investigated 
alleged criminal acts, taking account of, but not measuring compliance with, policies 
and guidance. 

The inspections consider how the arrangements for protecting children, and the 
leadership and management of the police service, contribute to and support effective 
practice on the ground. The team considers how well management responsibilities for 
child protection, as set out in the statutory guidance, have been met.  

Page 75

https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-safeguard-children--2


 

 45 

Methods 

• Self-assessment of practice, and of management and leadership. 

• Case inspections. 

• Discussions with officers and staff from within the police and from other 
organisations. 

• Examination of reports on significant case reviews or other serious cases. 

• Examination of service statistics, reports, policies and other relevant written 
materials. 

The purpose of the self-assessment is to: 

• raise awareness in the service about the strengths and weaknesses of current 
practice (this forms the basis for discussions with HMICFRS); and 

• initiate future service improvements and establish a baseline against which to 
measure progress. 

Self-assessment and case inspection 

In consultation with police services, the following areas of practice have been 
identified for scrutiny: 

• domestic abuse; 

• incidents in which police officers and staff identify children who are in need of help 
and protection (for example, children being neglected); 

• information sharing and discussions about children who are potentially at risk of 
harm; 

• the exercising of powers of police protection under section 46 of the Children Act 
1989 (taking children into a ‘place of safety’); 

• the completion of section 47 Children Act 1989 enquiries, including both those of a 
criminal nature and those of a non-criminal nature (section 47 enquiries are those 
relating to a child ‘in need’ rather than ‘at risk’); 

• sex offender management; 

• the management of missing children; 

• child sexual exploitation; and 

• the detention of children in police custody.

Page 76



 

 

March 2022 | © HMICFRS 2022 

www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs 

Page 77

http://www.justiceinspectorates.gov.uk/hmicfrs


This page is intentionally left blank



 

Police, Fire & Crime Panel 
Report  
May 2022 

 

HMICFRS National Child Protection Inspection of 

North Yorkshire Police (November 2021) 
 

The Commissioner has been requested to provide Members with a response and action update on 

Her Majesty's Inspectorate of Constabulary, Fire and Rescue Services (HMICFRS) National Child 

Protection Inspection of North Yorkshire Police which was conducted in November 2021, with the 

final report published on 29th March 2022.  

The following report provides the Commissioner’s response to the inspection findings and an 

update on progress and actions planned. North Yorkshire Police will attend the meeting to provide 

further detail verbally should Members have any questions specific to the delivery of actions to 

date.   

Background 
In November 2021, HMICFRS visited North Yorkshire Police as part of a national thematic 
inspection on child protection where every force in England and Wales is being assessed. 
 
Following the inspection, HMICFRS published their report on Tuesday 29th March 2022 which is set 
out at Agenda item 8a for Members. 
 
The report is of concern and disappointment to the Commissioner and to the Chief Constable as it 
showed that while the inspectorate found examples of good practice during their inspection in 
November, they also found inconsistency in North Yorkshire Police’s treatment of children across 
the cases they examined.  
 
The Commissioner is clear that all children deserve to grow up in a safe environment, cared for 
and protected from harm. But too many do not, and our police forces have an important role in 
identifying those who are vulnerable, protecting them and meeting their needs. That is why both 
the Commissioner and Chief Constable were candid in acknowledging that what this inspection 
found is unacceptable. 
 
Sometimes not enough has been done to ensure that North Yorkshire Police can show that 
vulnerable children are as protected as they should be in North Yorkshire and York.  All too often 
the failings come despite the best efforts of those who have a policing role to safeguard them. 
 
It is important to highlight that the findings of this inspection are not seen as a reflection on 
individual North Yorkshire Police officers and staff and the important roles they undertake every 
day. Members will see from the report that this was noted by the Inspectors who witnessed the 
dedication and commitment from the officers and staff who conducted child abuse investigations, 
while often working in difficult circumstances.  

Page 79

Agenda Item 9b



 

Recommendations 
The HMICFRS report set out ten recommendations for North Yorkshire Police, five of which were 

for immediate action and five identified by the Inspectorate for action within three months. 

The Commissioner is satisfied that a robust action plan is in place and that a clear reporting and 

accountability structure is in place within North Yorkshire Police to address the recommendations 

and monitor progress. 

The areas which have been identified by the Inspectorate for immediate action have all been 

addressed. Work is well underway for those recommendations which were identified by the 

Inspectorate for action within three months with much improvement already made to date. 

North Yorkshire Police have progressed at speed with action to improve its policies, practices, 
leadership and governance which: 

• Provides clear guidance to the control room staff to help them make the right decisions on 
officer response. 

• Helps officers to expand their consideration of how they capture and take account of the 
‘voice of the child’ through delivery of enhanced awareness and training.   

• Brings greater clarity and consistency to its missing children arrangements and practices, 
including supervision, investigation and sharing of information through a revised 
overarching Missing Person policy which covers both adults and children. 

• Improves how they work with and share information with partners about children at risk of 
exploitation. 

• Shares the right information, with the right people, at the right time. 

• Assigns investigations to officers with the right level of skills and capability. 

• Ensures they work with partners to be able to take children to an appropriate place of 
safety and how they manage the detention of children when appropriate. 

• Uses the appropriate systems to share information about registered sex offenders. 

• Improves the level of awareness, understanding and skills in the area of Child Sexual 
Exploitation. 

As part of the work being delivered, North Yorkshire Police have sought external guidance and 

expertise to progress key recommendations.  This is to ensure any response to the 

recommendations is reflective of good practice identified in forces nationally, through 

engagement with HMICFRS, National Police Chiefs’ Council and College of Policing. 

Activity to Date 
Upon receiving the draft HMICFRS National Child Protection Inspection report on 10th January 
2022, North Yorkshire Police informed the Commissioner and her Executive Management Team of 
the report findings immediately and a full formal briefing followed four weeks later.  While the 
Commissioner was rightly concerned by the content of the report, she was supportive of the draft 
plans presented to her which were being implemented without delay.   
 
North Yorkshire Police were given six weeks from the date of the publication of the report on 29th 
March to respond to HMICFRS with an action plan.  The Commissioner was reassured that North 
Yorkshire Police were able to set out their draft plans to HMICFRS on 2nd March.  These plans were 

Page 80



 

further confirmed in full on 28th April when careful consideration was given to each 
recommendation and a detailed action plan was provided.  This demonstrated to the 
Commissioner that North Yorkshire Police had not waited for the publication of the report before 
taking action.  The Chief Constable and the Senior Leadership Team took the report and its 
findings seriously and acted quickly to address the recommendation presented in the report and 
make improvements in the service. 
 
The Commissioner has a responsibility under s55 Police Act 1996, to respond formally to the 
HMICFRS National Child Protection Inspection report.  The Commissioner’s response is underway 
and will be completed before the deadline of 24th May 2022.  
 
The Commissioner was encouraged that North Yorkshire Police took swift action to implement a 
Gold command structure following receipt of the draft report in January to address the findings 
and look at measures that could be implemented immediately to improve the service. 
 
The first NCPI Gold meeting took place on 4th February, which is chaired by the Deputy Chief 
Constable Mabs Hussain.  This strategic group addresses the issues raised within the report and 
tracks improvements against the action Plan.  The Gold group initially met on a fortnightly basis to 
ensure a clear action plan was in place and has now moved to meeting on a monthly basis.  
 
Steve Cotter, the HMICFRS Force Liaison Lead for Lancashire Constabulary and North Yorkshire 
Police attends the Gold group to hear of the progress being made to which both the Commissioner 
and the Chief Constable are grateful for his attendance and support. 
 
Temporary Assistant Chief Constable Lindsey Butterfield chairs the Silver group, ensuring delivery 
and progress against the action plan and reports directly to the Gold group.  The Bronze leads own 
and deliver against each action within the Plan which includes the Heads of Safeguarding, Crime, 
Customer Contact, Criminal Justice and Custody, Learning and Development and further supported 
by People Services, Business Insight and Communications. 
 
North Yorkshire Police have also appointed one of their recently retired Sergeants into the role of 

Child Protection Coordinator to support the ongoing work.  The Child Protection Coordinator 

brings with her a wealth of policing knowledge and experience over 30 years with most of her 

career spent as a Detective safeguarding vulnerable people.  The role will assist in co-ordinating 

the work to address the recommendations set out within the HMICFRS report. 

The Commissioner has attended two of Gold meetings in March and May with one of her 
Executive Managers being a permanent member of the group.  A Senior Manager from the OPFCC 
is a member of the Silver group, ensuring the Commissioner receives regular updates on progress.  
 
Members were provided with a private briefing on 16th March by the Commissioner, the Chief 
Constable and the Deputy Chief Constable which respected the embargo placed on the report but 
gave a summary of the specific areas for improvement and actions being taken. 
 

The Commissioner, along with North Yorkshire Police, met with local authority partners in 
February who have offered their full support in addressing the report’s findings and ensuring that 
children are kept safe in the city and the county. 
 
It is the Commissioner’s responsibility to scrutinise the work of North Yorkshire Police and to hold 

the Chief Constable to account.  Therefore, the Commissioner held a special Public Accountability 

Meeting on the HMICFRS National Child Protection Inspection on 8th April, immediately after the 
Page 81



 

report was published.  This provided North Yorkshire Police the opportunity to set out their 

response and approach to improving the service they deliver in protecting children.  

At the special Public Accountability Meeting, North Yorkshire Police presented the work which had 

already taken place by 8th April to address: 

• the missing children arrangements; 

• improving officer and staff’s understanding of child sexual exploitation; 

• the management of registered sex offenders and; 

• recommendations which require support from partner agencies.  

The Commissioner and her Team promoted the special Public Accountability Meeting on social 

media to engage and reach out to the public so they could submit any questions they wished 

North Yorkshire Police or the Commissioner to answer.  Nine questions were submitted which 

were either addressed in full at the meeting or followed up with correspondence where further 

information was provided. 

Further information is available on the OPFCC website where the special NCPI Public 

Accountability Meeting can be viewed which can be accessed via the link 

https://www.northyorkshire-pfcc.gov.uk/police-oversight/governance/governance-

process/corporate-scrutiny-board/pam-8april2022/. 

Next Steps 
The Commissioner will review publicly the progress made against the National Child Protection 

Inspection action plan as part of the Safeguarding Public Accountability Meeting which is due to be 

held on 21st July 2022.  For this meeting North Yorkshire Police have been asked to present on 

delivery three months following publication of the HMICFRS report. 

North Yorkshire Police are planning to host another engagement session with partners in July to 
follow on from the local authority partner briefing session held in February.  This session will 
provide partners with an update on progress and provide an opportunity for further questions or 
shared learning to be addressed which the Commissioner is very much hoping to attend.   
 
As North Yorkshire Police will be subject to a Victim Service Assessment (VSA) inspection in June 
2022, it is taking the opportunity prior to the inspection to reassure itself on the service it 
provides. There is some correlation within this area of work and the National Child Protection 
Inspection in particular the broader issues relating to safeguarding and investigative standards. 
Therefore, VSA reporting will also be considered through the Gold group which is an approach the 
Commissioner very much welcomes to ensure she remains updated on any key matters relating to 
the safeguarding of children. 
 
The Commissioner and her Management Team will continue to attend both the Gold and Silver 
group meetings, engage with partners and ensure updates are communicated.  Through the 
focused work taking place to address the recommendations, this is providing the Commissioner 
the opportunity to consider areas where further support or funding may be required to ensure 
North Yorkshire Police continue to make improvements safeguarding the children of North 
Yorkshire and York.  

Page 82

https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.northyorkshire-pfcc.gov.uk%2Fpolice-oversight%2Fgovernance%2Fgovernance-process%2Fcorporate-scrutiny-board%2Fpam-8april2022%2F&data=05|01|Caroline.Blackburn%40northyorkshire.police.uk|0a3cdd79aa1d4d03106e08da346b63ce|2c84bc9193af476e9721cdad67cb3ead|0|0|637879933084438883|Unknown|TWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D|3000|||&sdata=qoLO1BBoVHVC7mHakh3TXvNiw25%2BNWcq%2FhIVSJRDj50%3D&reserved=0
https://eur02.safelinks.protection.outlook.com/?url=https%3A%2F%2Fwww.northyorkshire-pfcc.gov.uk%2Fpolice-oversight%2Fgovernance%2Fgovernance-process%2Fcorporate-scrutiny-board%2Fpam-8april2022%2F&data=05|01|Caroline.Blackburn%40northyorkshire.police.uk|0a3cdd79aa1d4d03106e08da346b63ce|2c84bc9193af476e9721cdad67cb3ead|0|0|637879933084438883|Unknown|TWFpbGZsb3d8eyJWIjoiMC4wLjAwMDAiLCJQIjoiV2luMzIiLCJBTiI6Ik1haWwiLCJXVCI6Mn0%3D|3000|||&sdata=qoLO1BBoVHVC7mHakh3TXvNiw25%2BNWcq%2FhIVSJRDj50%3D&reserved=0


 

Summary 
The HMICFRS National Child Protection Inspection report does set out that there is evidence that 
improvements were underway in November 2021, when the inspection took place.  The 
Commissioner has been assured by the Chief Constable those have continued at pace, so many of 
the issues identified are now in the process of being addressed. 
 
The Chief Constable has publicly accepted the findings of the Inspectorate and has offered her 
deepest apologies to any child that North Yorkshire Police have let down or could have protected 
more effectively.  Further, North Yorkshire Police recognise that protecting children is one of the 
most important things that the police do.  As a Force they are working to ensure that the right 
systems and processes are in place to support officers and staff protecting and safeguarding every 
child. 
 
The Commissioner is reassured that the Chief Constable is focused on ensuring North Yorkshire 
Police is doing everything possible to protect children and has been working at pace to address the 
issues that were identified in the Inspectorate’s report. 
 
The Commissioner will ensure that the Chief Constable is held to account on the delivery of the 
improvements. 
 
 
 

Page 83



This page is intentionally left blank



   

 
OFFICIAL 

North Yorkshire Police, Fire and Crime Panel 
 

25th May 2022 
 

Work Programme 

 
2 The Panel is responsible for setting its own work programme taking into 

account the tasks that the Panel must undertake and the priorities defined by 
the Commissioner within the context of the Police and Crime Plan and Fire 
and Rescue Plan. 

 
3 The work programme at Appendix A highlights those issues which have been 

previously agreed or which have been added since the last meeting in 
discussion with the Chair or Vice Chairs.   

 
4 All full Panel meetings will henceforth be held in person.  A venue for the next 

meeting on 21st July is yet to be confirmed, although Members may wish to 
note the confirmation of venues for the October 2022 and January 2023 
meetings (York and Northallerton respectively).  As council offices and other 
venues begin to open up again to public meetings, a rolling programme for 
future venues will be added into the forward work programme up to April 
2023. 

 
5 Members are invited to provide any further suggestions for the work 

programme. 
 

 
Diane Parsons 
Principal Scrutiny Officer 
North Yorkshire County Council 
 
16th May 2022 
 
Background Documents:  
Appendix A – Police, Fire and Crime Panel Work Programme and Calendar of 
Meetings for 2022/23 

1 Purpose of Report 
 
1.1      To invite the Panel to consider its future work programme. 
 
 
            
 

6 Recommendations 
 
6.1  That the Panel agrees its outline work programme. 

 

 

Page 85

Agenda Item 10



       Appendix A 
 
POLICE, FIRE & CRIME PANEL MEETINGS SCHEDULE AND WORK PROGRAMME 2022/23   
     

 

OFFICIAL 

July 2022 Thursday 21st July 2022 at 10:30am – Annual 
Meeting 

Venue tbc 

Election of Panel Chair and Vice Chairs 

Balanced appointment objective for Panel / Preparing for LGR 

Risk and Resource Model for the FRS (public consultation) – 
opportunity for Panel feedback. 

Enhancing diversity in NYP and NYFRS, including work around 
recruitment and retention (deferred from March 2022) 

Memorandum of Understanding between Panel and OPFCC (to be 
agreed). 

October 2022 Thursday 13th October 2022 at 10:30am 

Hudson Room, City of York Council West Offices, 
York. 

Violence against women and girls – annual update. 

Rural crime (inc wildlife crime). 

Complaints and Recognition Service – update report. 

Complaints submitted to the PFC Panel – annual update 

January 2023 Thursday 12th January 2023 at 10:30am 

Council Chamber, County Hall, Northallerton 

‘Pre-precept’ reports for policing and fire and rescue. 

PFCC’s work around criminal justice. 

Tackling fraud. 

February 2023 Monday 6th February 2023 at 10:30am  

Council Chamber, County Hall, Northallerton 

Precept proposals for policing and fire and rescue. 

Force Control Room – annual performance update 

Tackling hate crime (annual update) 

 Tuesday 21st February 2023 at 1:30pm  

Venue tbc 

Precept reserve meeting (if needed). 

P
age 86



       Appendix A 
POLICE, FIRE & CRIME PANEL WORK PROGRAMME AND MEETING DATES FOR 2022/23 
 

 

OFFICIAL 

April 2023 Thursday 27th April 2023 at 10:30am 

Venue tbc 

Enable programme update. 

Drug crime – update report. 

 

P
age 87



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	3 Minutes of the Panel Meeting held on 16th March 2022
	6a Guidance for the Confirmation Hearing
	6b Supporting information from the Police, Fire and Crime Commissioner
	Item 6(b) Supporting information from the PFCC 2022-05-25
	Appendix A - CFO Independent Panel Member Report v2

	6c Personal statement from the preferred appointee
	9a Background information: the report of HMICFRS as published on 29th March 2022
	National Child Protection Inspection
	North Yorkshire Police 1–12 November 2021
	Foreword
	Contents
	Summary
	Main findings from the inspection
	Conclusion

	1. Introduction
	The police’s responsibility to keep children safe
	Expectations set out in the Working Together guidance

	2. Context for the force
	Organisation

	3. Leadership, management and governance
	Senior leaders have a clear ambition to give children better outcomes
	Leaders don’t oversee child protection well enough, either strategically or operationally
	Leaders need to review the way they gather, record and act on information, so they can improve outcomes for children
	Officers responding to child protection concerns aren’t always trained well enough
	The force contributes to partnership working arrangements
	Officers and staff who manage child-related investigations are dedicated and enthusiastic

	4. Case file analysis
	Results of case file reviews
	Cases assessed by both North Yorkshire Police and us
	Additional 40 cases assessed only by us
	Total 73 cases assessed by us

	Breakdown of case file audit results by area of child protection
	Cases assessed involving enquiries under section 47 of the Children Act 1989
	Cases assessed involving referrals relating to domestic abuse incidents or crimes
	Cases assessed involving referrals arising from incidents other than domestic abuse
	Cases assessed involving children at risk from child sexual exploitation
	Cases assessed involving missing children
	Cases assessed involving children taken to a place of safety under section 46 of the Children Act 1989
	Cases involving sex offender management in which children have been assessed as at risk from the person being managed
	Cases assessed involving children detained in police custody


	5. Initial contact
	The force control room uses flags well to highlight risks to children
	The force’s initial response to missing children is inconsistent and leaves some children at high risk
	There are no routine reviews of how well staff perform in the control room
	The force supervises missing children incidents inconsistently
	Officers inform schools about children present at domestic abuse incidents
	Officers often don’t speak to children, listen to them, or record their behaviour and demeanour

	6. Assessment and help
	The force has developed an efficient system for sharing information with safeguarding partners
	Officers generally submit and send PPNs, but they often don’t record enough detail
	The force holds strategy discussions promptly when the risk is clear
	When the risk to children comes from outside the family, the force doesn’t hold strategy discussions consistently
	The force contributes well to long-term multi-agency safeguarding plans
	The constabulary has developed arrangements that support those affected by domestic abuse
	The MARACs are effective when police and partners refer cases
	The force’s understanding of child sexual exploitation has some weaknesses
	The force has scrutinised its CSE capability, but it isn’t acting on the results
	The force doesn’t know enough about the standard of its practice when children go missing
	The force loses some opportunities to understand why children go missing
	The force is trying to improve its response to children who go missing from care, but it doesn’t always make information available to officers

	7. Investigation
	The force allocates some investigations to officers without the right skills and experience
	Limited supervision is leading to drift and delay in many investigations
	When the force allocates cases to specialists, the standard of investigation is better
	Officers often miss investigative opportunities to safeguard children when dealing with CSE
	The force needs to improve the way it tackles CSE
	There is little evidence of the force working effectively with other organisations
	The force usually acts promptly to trace those sharing child abuse images, but there are significant delays in downloading from devices
	The force doesn’t share information with its safeguarding partners early enough

	8. Decision making
	The force used police protection powers appropriately in all the cases we audited
	Officers don’t always properly record their use of police protection powers
	Officers take steps to avoid taking children to police stations while in police protection

	9. Trusted adult
	The force engages well with children in the community

	10. Managing those who pose a risk to children
	Staffing levels in the team are good
	The force uses risk management processes consistently
	Better briefing of neighbourhood police teams would enhance the force’s intelligence-gathering
	The force doesn’t record information about RSOs consistently
	The force doesn’t always share information with children’s social care

	11. Police detention
	Custody staff don’t fully understand their role in safeguarding vulnerable children
	Appropriate adults aren’t attending quickly enough to support children in custody
	The force gives children in custody inconsistent welfare support
	The force works to divert children away from custody

	Conclusion
	The overall effectiveness of the force and its response to children who need help and protection
	Next steps

	Annex A – Child protection inspection methodology
	Objectives
	Inspection approach
	Methods
	Self-assessment and case inspection


	Case study: the force responds to a call about domestic abuse
	Case study: call handlers carry out a firearms check in a domestic abuse incident
	Case study: officers submit a PPN without considering a sibling’s needs well enough
	Recommendations
	Case study: the force doesn’t respond well enough to a report of child sexual exploitation
	Recommendations
	Case study: police don’t respond quickly enough to a report of child sexual abuse
	Case study: despite little supervision, officers carry out a good domestic abuse investigation
	Case study: the force responds quickly to an incident involving a CAWN, but investigators act slowly to safeguard the child
	Case study: police don’t speak to a child who may be at risk of CSE
	Recommendations
	Case study: police use protection powers well, but they don’t make good enough records
	Case study: officers put the child’s welfare first, but they don’t make good enough records
	Recommendations
	Case study: officers respond sensitively and effectively to a suicidal child
	Case study: officers record concerns about an RSO, but they don’t act quickly enough
	Recommendations
	Case study: officers risk assess and investigate a case involving a child well, but there are delays in an appropriate adult attending
	Recommendations

	9b Response to the inspection report, actions taken and planned
	10 Work Programme



